TRANSLATIONAL IMMUNOMETABOLISM RESEARCH IN ADOLESCENT IDIOPATHIC SCOLIOSIS

THE FEASIBILITY OF MECHANISTIC STUDIES ON THE ROLE OF IMMUNITY IN ADOLESCENT

IDIOPATHIC SCOLIOSIS

By SRIKESH RUDRAPATNA, B.Sc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Srikesh Rudrapatna, December 2017

Descriptive Note

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2017) (Medical Science) McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: Establishing the Feasibility of Mechanistic Studies on the Role of the Immune System in

Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis

AUTHOR: Srikesh Rudrapatna, B.Sc. (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. M. Constantine Samaan

NUMBER OF PAGES: xi, 70

Abstract

Background: The most prominent form of spinal curvature in youth (scoliosis) is Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis (AIS). While AIS aetiology is unclear, the role of paraspinal muscle in its genesis has been debated, as These muscles provide spinal stability and motion. It is known that paraspinal muscle (PM) exhibits differential fibrosis on both sides of the spine. As fibrosis is the result of immune system activation, we sought to elucidate the upstream mechanisms of immune-muscle interactions in AIS.

Objectives: The primary objective of this thesis was to determine the feasibility of a translational research study (Immunometabolic <u>CON</u>nections to <u>S</u>coliosis (ICONS) study) procedures. Secondary objectives include the performance of exploratory analyses of macrophages in PM of AIS patients on both sides of the spine. As adiposity is associated with muscle inflammation in the general population, the association of whole-body adiposity with PM macrophage content and/or phenotype was investigated.

Hypothesis: We tested the hypothesis that ICONS study protocols are feasible and that PM macrophage populations are different on both sides of the spine. Furthermore, we hypothesized that increasing adiposity positively correlates with PM macrophage infiltration.

Results: We observed that all pre-set feasibility criteria were achieved or surpassed, except that of recruitment rate. PM total macrophage content was not different on either side of the scoliotic curve; however, a trend of predominance of anti-inflammatory macrophages on the convex side of the scoliotic curve was noted. PM macrophage content correlated positively with adiposity.

Conclusions: Adopting the ICONS study procedures for the full study is feasible. Continued investigations of immune system role in PM of AIS patients may identify therapeutic targets to aid AIS treatment and prevention.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Samaan for the excellent opportunity to pursue a Master's Degree centred on Translational Research. Dr. Samaan's tireless support was instrumental in motivating and helping me overcome the many challenges I have faced. Perhaps the most important skills I have come to appreciate by having Dr. Samaan as a role model, is his attention to detail and ability to problem solve. Also, Drs. Tarnopolsky and Peterson, thank you for serving on my supervisory thesis committee. Your support and suggestions throughout this project were invaluable.

I would also like to thank all my peers in Dr. Samaan's lab who helped me transition to a new environment. Thank you to Ishan Aditya, for teaching me how to approach participant recruitments in clinical settings. Thank you to Kuan-Wen (Katherine) Wang for teaching me about clinical data collection and organization.

I would like to give special thanks to William Jennings Greer for his tremendous support in the wet lab component of this thesis work. William patiently supported my learning of all experimental procedures and all the way to data analysis.

Lastly, I would like to mention that this project would have been impossible without the support of an amazing clinical team and children and families who agreed to take part in the study. Recruiting subjects from a pediatric population comes with many challenges and the support I received from Ms. Debbie O'Rourke, The Child Life Specialist at the clinic, was crucial in supporting study recruitment. Also, I would like to thank Drs. Peterson, Missiuna, Gandhi and their secretarial team for help in coordinating patient recruitments and supporting study procedures and sampling.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	II
LIST OF TABLES	II
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	Х
DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENTX	ΧI
CHAPTER 1:	.1
INTRODUCTION & STATEMENT OF PROBLEM	.1
ADOLESCENT IDIOPATHIC SCOLIOSIS: A COMMON PEDIATRIC CONDITION	.2
PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF AIS	.2
RISK FACTORS FOR PROGRESSION OF THE SCOLIOTIC CURVE	.3
MORBIDITIES ASSOCIATED WITH AIS	.3
CURRENT THERAPIES FOR AIS	.4
Observation	5
Physiotherapy	5
Bracing	5
Surgical Correction	.6
THEORIES OF AIS ETIOLOGY	.6
Genetic Factors	6
Environmental, lifestyle and Epigenetic Factors	.7
Hormones and Metabolic Factors	8
Nervous System & Biomechanical Factors1	0
PARASPINAL MUSCLE CONTRIBUTION TO SCOLIOSIS1	0
Normal Muscle Regeneration following injury1	2
Aberrant Muscle Regeneration1	3
ADIPOSITY-DRIVEN MUSCLE MACROPHAGE INFILTRATION1	4
THE IMMUNOMETABOLIC CONNECTIONS TO SCOLIOSIS (ICONS) STUDY1	5
RESEARCH QUESTIONS1	6
HYPOTHESES1	7
AIMS1	7
CHAPTER 2: FEASIBILITY OF THE ICONS STUDY PROCEDURES	8
UNDERSTANDING MUSCLE-IMMUNE INTERACTIONS IN ADOLESCENT IDIOPATHIC SCOLIOSIS: A	
FEASIBILITY STUDY	9
Abstract	?1
Strengths and limitations of this study2	3
INTRODUCTION2	24
<i>METHODS</i>	6
<i>RESULTS3</i>	1
DISCUSSION	4
CONCLUSION	8
Figures4	!2
CHAPTER 3:	4
CHARACTERIZATION OF MACROPHAGE CONTENT AND PHENOTYPE IN PARASPINAL	
MUSCLE OF AIS PATIENTS	4
INTRODUCTION4	-5

METHODS	
Anthropometric Measurements	47
Muscle biopsies	47
Gene Expression Analysis	47
Protein Expression Analysis	
STATISTICAL ANALYSES	51
RESULTS	
Demographics	
Macrophages in PM of AIS patients on both sides of the spinal curve	
PM Macrophage phenotypic differences in PM in AIS patients	
Profiles of macrophage markers' protein expression	
DISCUSSION	
Correlation between Macrophage Marker mRNA and Protein levels	
Future Directions	
CHAPTER 4:	60
DETERMINING THE ASSOCIATION OF WHOLE-BODY ADIPOSITY WITH PM MAC	CROPHAGE
CONTENT AND PHENOTYPE	
INTRODUCTION	61
Methods	61
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	
RESULTS	62
Total PM CD68 protein content positively correlates with fat mass	63
Correlation between total PM macrophage subtypes and adiposity	63
DISCUSSION	63
Limitations and Future Directions	65
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	71
APPENDIX	
PUBLISHED COPY: UNDERSTANDING MUSCLE-IMMUNE INTERACTIONS IN ADOLESCENT ID SCOLIOSIS: A FEASIBILITY STUDY	IOPATHIC

List of Illustrations

Figure 1: ICONS study recruitment and study procedures (Page 42)

Figure 2: Biological sample processing flow chart (Page 43)

Figure 3: Convex PM CD68 gene expression normalized to concave PM (Page 53)

Figure 4a-c: Macrophage subtype marker gene expression (Page 55)

Figure 5: Western blot images for subjects 3 and 4 in ICONS study (Page 56)

Figure 6a-b: Graphical representation of macrophage marker protein expression relative to total

protein (Ponceau S stain) (Page 56)

List of tables

Table 1: Summary of [ICONS feasibility study] participant characteristics (Page 32)

Table 2: Summary of macrophage marker expression patterns indicating polarization (Page 46)

Table 3: Summary of participant characteristics [Thesis Chapter 3 and 4] (Page 52)

Table 4: Table representing Spearman's Rank Correlation coefficients between PM expression

 of macrophage markers and adiposity measures (Page 64)

List of Abbreviations

- %BF = Body Fat Percentage
- $\Delta\Delta Ct = Delta-delta Cycle Threshold$
- AIS = Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis
- ANOVA = Analysis of Variance
- AT = Adipose Tissue
- BCA = Bicinchoninic Acid Assay
- BMI = Body Mass Index
- bpm = Beats Per Minute
- CCL2 = Chemokine (C-C motif) Ligand 2
- CD = Cluster of Differentiation
- cDNA = Complimentary Deoxyribonucleic Acid
- ECM = Extracellular Matrix
- FAP = Fibro/Adipogenic Progenitor
- GAPDH = Glyceraldehyde 3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
- HRP = Horseradish Peroxidase
- ICONS = Immunometabolic CONnections to Scoliosis
- IFN- γ = Interferon Gamma
- IHC = Immunohistochemistry
- IL = Interleukin
- M1 = Pro-inflammatory macrophage
- M2 = Anti-inflammatory (resident) macrophage

- mmHg = Millimeters of Mercury
- MMP = Matrix Metalloproteinase
- mRNA = Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
- PAGE = Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
- PM = Paraspinal Muscle
- PVDF = Polyvinylidene Fuoride
- qRT-PCR = Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction
- RNA = Ribonucleic Acid
- SD = Standard Deviation
- SDS = Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate
- TBS-T = Tris-Buffered Saline with TweenTM 20
- TNF- α = Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha
- WHR = Waist-to-Hip Ratio
- WHtR = Waist-to-Height Ratio

Declaration of Academic Achievement

I have completed all the design, implementation and analysis of experimental work necessary to produce Figures 3-6b. Ishan Aditya and Nicola Sahar helped with participant recruitment and sample collection for Figures 1 and 2, and both are listed as co-authors in the paper resulting from aim 1 of this thesis.

CHAPTER 1:

Introduction & Statement of Problem

Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis: A common pediatric condition

Derived from the Greek word *skolios*, a bending, the term '*scoliosis*' describes a 3-dimensional deformity of the spine[1]. Scoliosis is primarily characterized by an abnormal curve in the coronal plane[2]. Defects in the sagittal and transverse planes include kyphosis/lordosis and vertebral rotation, respectively[3].

There are multiple causes of scoliosis including congenital abnormalities of the spine, neuromuscular abnormalities, syndromic and muscle pathology affecting muscle groups that act as spine stabilizers. Cases that have no defined etiology are labeled as Idiopathic[1].

Idiopathic scoliosis is classified into three groups depending on the age at diagnosis. Infantile (ages 0-3), juvenile (ages 4-10) and adolescent (ages 11-17) idiopathic scoliosis[4]. The most common diagnosis is Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis (AIS) affecting approximately 3% of children between 11 and 17 years old[1, 4-6]. While AIS is six-fold higher in females compared to males, there is yet no clear explanation for this difference[7]. To explain the dominance of AIS in females, researchers have investigated genetic arguments of X-chromosome-linked inheritance and sex hormone signaling/receptor pathologies among others, but no studies have confirmed a cause[8, 9].

Pathophysiology of AIS

Spinal curving in AIS begins from a straight spine where vertebrae rotate and unilaterally wedge for reasons still unknown [3, 10, 11]. Clinically, this is observed as a "rib-hump," or a prominent

bulge on the convex side of the spine[3, 7]. Other physical presentations include asymmetries in the shoulder and pelvic heights[7].

The severity of AIS is categorized into mild, moderate and severe groups. Severity is defined by an increasing Cobb angle, a calculation of the angle produced by the two most tilted vertebrae as seen in a postero-anterior x-ray of the spine[12].

Risk factors for progression of the scoliotic curve

Assessing the risk for curve progression is complex without a clear understanding of the mechanisms driving AIS. Clinicians use the patient's age, sex, Cobb angle and stage of skeletal maturity to estimate the likelihood of progression[1, 3, 7, 10]. Young females who are far from skeletal maturity, and presenting with curves greater than 30° are at the highest risk for progression[1, 13, 14].

Morbidities associated with AIS

Comorbidities of AIS are not common and do not usually affect mortality. Morbidities may include pulmonary hypertension, back pain, and cosmetic effects that may negatively impact self-image[7, 15-21].

AIS patients with very severe curves may present with small lung volumes due to abnormal rib cage anatomy and weak respiratory muscle strength. These abnormalities may explain the risk of right ventricular hypertrophy characteristic of pulmonary hypertension seen in autopsies of some patients with scoliosis versus those with no scoliosis[22]. Interestingly, these alterations are

rarely associated with cardiac failure and thus do not normally alter mortality rates and may go unnoticed throughout a patient's life[14, 23].

Back pain in AIS is slightly more common in adults who were untreated for AIS during their childhood years[20, 24, 25]. It is proposed that years of abnormal loading through facet joints may cause fractures in spinous processes, foramen stenosis, and posterior muscle fatigue, all of which may increase the risk of developing back pain[14, 26]. It is likely that other mechanisms are at play in AIS, however, these are not identified yet.

Several studies report poor self-image among AIS patients. This is mainly attributed to asymmetric shoulder and pelvis heights as well as a commonly observed ectomorphic body composition characterized by bony protrusions[6, 8, 27-30]. Improving self-image may be a motivator to improve treatment compliance and prevent low self-esteem, anxiety and depressive symptoms[18, 31].

Current Therapies for AIS

The Society on Scoliosis Orthopaedic and Rehabilitation Treatment proposes a 3-stage treatment approach for AIS[4] depending in its severity of the curve. This severity is classified by measuring the angle between the two most tilted vertebrae (Cobb angle). Clinicians recommend physiotherapy for scoliosis with a Cobb angle of $10^{\circ}-25^{\circ}$. More severe cases, with a Cobb angle of $25^{\circ}-50^{\circ}$, are treated with bracing, and spinal fusion surgery is used to treat curves $\geq 50^{\circ}[32]$.

Observation

To ensure the early detection and to enhance treatment effectiveness, the Scoliosis Research Society recommends school screening be implemented annually[33, 34]. However, this approach is expensive, resource-intensive, and may result in an increased rate of false-positive screening results[35].

Physiotherapy

Mild cases of AIS are treated by daily torso strengthening exercise prescription and biweekly physiotherapy that includes physical manipulations and electrical muscle stimulation[3, 7, 32, 35, 36]. The basis of physical therapy is to promote structural stability to the spine via strengthening paraspinal muscles and for patients to maintain a correct posture[3, 32]. Current evidence suggests that the effectiveness of physiotherapy in altering the course of scoliosis is not conclusive[32]. Studies so far have been limited by small sample size and high risk of bias[37]. Studies are needed to assess whether exercise regimens that strengthen paraspinal muscles may lead to a reduction in curve progression [38].

Bracing

For those who do not respond to physiotherapy with curve progression to 25°, bracing is the next option of management. Depending on the location of the curve, braces can vary based on composite material and daily duration of use[3, 32]. Bracing aims to prevent respiratory dysfunction, back pain and to try and maintain an acceptable physical appearance in these patients [3, 32, 36]. The most successful bracing modality based on attenuated curve progression is the cervico-thoraco-lumbo-sacral orthosis when worn 23 hours per day [32]. Such a

demanding bracing protocol may negatively affect psychological wellbeing, albeit temporarily [39].

Surgical Correction

Approximately 11-28% of patients who use bracing and have not reached skeletal maturity will progress to a curve greater than 50°, warranting spinal instrumentation and fusion surgery[4, 40, 41]. This procedure re-aligns the spine's three-dimensional shape and aims to prevent further curve progression[32]. The risk of complications during surgery is low and the best patient-rated benefits to surgery include improved spinal appearance, self-image and psychological wellbeing among patients[42, 43]. Very few longitudinal studies have been conducted and therefore it is unclear whether surgical intervention alters the risk of scoliosis-related morbidities in adulthood[43].

Theories of AIS Etiology

Despite extensive research, the etiopathogenesis of AIS remains uncertain. Some potential contributors include genetic factors, hormones, mechanical factors, metabolic factors, the nervous system and biomechanical factors[2, 29, 35, 44-49]. Scoliosis has not been documented in other species and is likely due to their lack of bipedalism[50-52].

Genetic Factors

The exact nature of AIS onset and natural course varies greatly among patients, and family studies reveal that first-degree relatives of an AIS patient are 9% more likely to develop the disease than second-degree relatives[53]. Furthermore, twin studies indicate that concordance

rates for AIS are higher among monozygotic versus dizygotic pairs[54, 55], although this was challenged recently [56]. There are lower overall concordance rates among all twins, yet, monozygotic pairs have 25% greater risk for developing AIS[56].

Family studies suggest that AIS may be inherited, however, identifying specific genes associated remains elusive. Genome-wide association studies have recently examined single nucleotide polymorphisms that may be related to AIS development, and identified many target genes with the potential to increase AIS risk situated on chromosomes 6, 9, 16 and 17[9, 57, 58]. Furthermore, results from family studies concluded that AIS is polygenic[9, 59-64]. In summary, there appears to be a complex genetic component to AIS genesis that requires further study.

Environmental, lifestyle and Epigenetic Factors

In an attempt to understand the mechanisms driving AIS, researchers have investigated the potential influence of environmental factors on AIS genesis and prognosis via epigenetics[2, 61]. Research on sociodemographic and physical activity patterns among AIS patients is conflicting. There is some evidence suggesting that low socioeconomic status is associated with reduced physical activity participation which may augment the spine curving in AIS[65]. However, children from more affluent families who participate in dance, gymnastics and skating tend to develop a high degree of flexibility and this may contribute to AIS mechanisms by reducing spinal stability[66].

It is proposed that defects in visuospatial control of movement, caused by inactivity or hypermobility, induces repeated cycles of physical trauma to the spine and increases the

likelihood of AIS[67]. Grivas et al. (2006) proposed geographic location as a potential contributor to AIS risk. Interestingly, some northern countries have reduced yearly sunlight hours and some malnutrition among children with low sociodemographic status. This may delay puberty and attainment of skeletal maturity[68].

It is possible that factors linked to scoliotic curve progression, such as nutrition and physical activity, may alter AIS inheritance via epigenetics. Epigenetics describes the differences in phenotypes that are not linked to altered genetic sequence, but to changes in gene expression. The various modifications in gene expression can be due to methylation, histone modification and other mechanisms[2, 61, 69, 70].

Understanding AIS inheritance requires the examination of one's *Exposome* or totality of internal and external environmental exposures from conception onwards[61].

Hormones and Metabolic Factors

Pubertal AIS patients have been reported to be taller than age-matched controls after correcting for the height deformity in the coronal plane[30]. This supports the theory of abnormally accelerated vertebral bone growth as a potential contributor to AIS[71, 72]. Specifically, anterior spinal overgrowth may play an important role in causing the vertebral rotation and subsequent wedging and curving of the spine[73-75]. One suggested involve altered osteoblast function by the hormone melatonin, produced by the pineal gland[76]. Experimental studies were conducted in pinealectomized chicken as well as rats rendered bipedal via surgical amputation of the forelegs and tail[77, 78]. Interestingly, the lack of melatonin coupled with gravitational forces in

these pseudo-bipedal animals caused scoliosis[77, 78]. Further support for the potential role of melatonin in AIS is the finding that melatonin supplementation post-pinealectomy reduced scoliosis onset in chickens by 80%[77]. It is proposed that melatonin influences vertebral shape by regulating the cells involved in bone growth and remodeling[78]. Specifically, bone is formed by osteoblasts which then mature to osteocytes[79]. Another population of cells called osteoclasts is responsible for bone resorption[79]. It is believed that melatonin deficiency reduces the number of available osteocytes and lowers bone remodeling capacity, thus contributing to AIS development[76].

Melatonin is also a potent inhibitor of calmodulin, a protein responsible for shuttling Ca²⁺ ions within muscle[79]. Ca²⁺ allows myosin cross-bridges to form with actin, so reduced calmodulin levels decrease cross-bridge formation and impairs subsequent muscle contraction[79]. Alternatively, melatonin deficiency may relate to excessive calmodulin levels within paraspinal muscles causing asymmetric muscle contraction across the spine. Ultimately, this may induce a load imbalance that may initiate or perpetuate scoliosis[80]. The fundamental basis on which this and other biomechanical theories of scoliosis hinge on is that compressive and tensile forces may alter bone growth, referred to as "The Hueter-Volkmann Law." Compressive forces on epiphyseal plates may stunt bone growth while tension promotes it, contributing to deformations of the vertebral body that are associated with AIS[11, 81].

The intrinsic effects of melatonin on bone remodeling, and extrinsic calmodulin actions on the epiphyseal plates may alter vertebral growth in a manner that triggers the rotation and wedging of spinal segments.

While scoliosis models have implicated melatonin and calmodulin in scoliosis pathogenesis, so far there are no significant alterations in melatonin or calmodulin signaling in AIS patients[82]. This suggests that other mechanisms are at play in humans, or at least that these molecules may I=lay an indirect and more complex role in AIS, which may require further evaluation[82]

Nervous System & Biomechanical Factors

Nervous system dysfunction has been suggested as a potential mechanism in the development of AIS. The "asynchronous neuro-osseous growth mechanism" suggests that a short spinal cord and long anterior spine induces spinal tethering, which produces a physical stimulus inducing spinal curving as seen in AIS[44]. It has been suggested that this set of events is related to neurological factors including thinning of the cerebral cortex and a defective vestibulocochlear system characterized by impaired balance, proprioception and postural control[61, 83, 84]. Ultimately, these factors fuel a feedback loop of continued vertebral deformation until skeletal maturity is achieved and bone morphology becomes permanent.

Paraspinal Muscle Contribution to Scoliosis

Skeletal muscle is a large organ, neatly compartmentalized by layers of connective tissue. Each muscle consists of many fascicles surrounded by endomysium, and each fascicle contains groups of multi-nucleated myofibers[79]. Fascicles and myofibers are separated by connective tissue known as endomysium and perimysium, respectively[79]. Humans body have many different skeletal muscle groups, which are divided into postural and phasic types[85]. The primary role of postural muscles is to stabilize the skeleton, while phasic muscles induce movement by acting

on the skeleton[86]. The type of myofibers which compose different muscles tends to vary with functional purpose. In particular, postural muscles tend to be dominated by type I myofibers, which are capable of long bouts of low-intensity contraction[87, 88]. On the other hand, phasic muscles are dominated by type IIa and IIb myofibers, which produce short bursts of intense contraction suitable for movement[87, 88].

One example of postural muscles include the Paraspinal Muscles (PM), which are key players in maintaining balance and proprioception[85]. Muscle dysfunction in this region has been a prime suspect in AIS genesis for many years[2, 89, 90]. The success of AIS treatment is thought to depend on harnessing the torso stabilization capacity of PM. Promoting PM health might synergistically improve the effect of treatments such as physiotherapy and bracing. It may also offer the potential for preventing or slowing down spinal curving.

Past research on PM has explored electrical activity and fiber type distribution in an attempt to understand their contribution to AIS. Findings from these investigations suggest that muscle on the convex side of the scoliotic curve have a greater proportion of type 1 fibers, and exhibits slightly increased electrical activity compared to PM on the concave side of the curve[91]. It is unclear whether the alterations in muscle phenotype are adaptations or causal factors for spinal curving[92].

One potential explanation for the AIS muscle phenotype is a chronic injurious stimulus, similar to neuromuscular disorders or accidents[89, 93]. Excessive nerve root stimulation increases muscle tone and heightens the risk of structural damage at the musculotendinous junction. This

11

can occur due to a compensatory mechanism whereby agonist muscles over-contract and experience a faster rate of fatigue. Supporting this theory are the findings of excessive fibrosis on the concave side of the spine, suggesting that muscle injury is resulting in an asymmetrical and impaired regenerative response[90, 94]. This highlights the need to evaluate the potential role of dysfunctional paraspinal muscles at a molecular level to clarify their contribution to AIS genesis and propagation.

Normal Muscle Regeneration following injury

Injury to skeletal muscle initiates a regeneration response coordinated by the immune system. This allows satellite cells, which are muscle stem cells, to produce new myofibers[95, 96]. Resident and circulation-derived immune cells, such as macrophages and neutrophils, first sense damage-associated molecular patterns such as exposed intracellular components due to cell membrane rupture and initiate a pro-inflammatory phase. During this phase, cellular debris bind to pattern recognition receptors located on tissue-resident macrophages thus stimulating the secretion of pro-inflammatory molecules[95]. This inflammatory response is characterized by interferon gamma (INF γ), Tumour Necrosis Factor alpha (TNF α), Interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6 and chemokine (C-C motif) Ligand 2 (CCL2) secretion among others[97].

CCL2 and other molecules create a chemoattractant signal for circulating monocytes and other immune cells to infiltrate injured muscle[97, 98]. Once monocytes enter muscle, they differentiate into inflammatory (M1) macrophages. There is a rapid increase in phagocytic immune cells which remove cellular debris, allowing for progression to the inflammation resolving/ regenerative phase[96].

Once the injury site is clear of debris, the pro-inflammatory stimulus dampens and neighbouring myofibers and macrophages secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF-B1[97]. This marks a transition towards extracellular matrix (ECM) production by fibroblasts and Fibro/Adipogenic Progenitor (FAP) cells. The purpose of ECM is to maintain tissue integrity while satellite cells differentiate and to provide scaffolding to which new myofibers may fuse. In parallel, anti-inflammatory signals induce a shift in macrophage population. This is described as alternatively activated, M2 macrophage polarization[95]. M2-macrophages stimulate fibroblast, myofibroblast and FAP cell proliferation and support satellite cell differentiation[99].

Once sufficient satellite cell differentiation has occurred, ECM is degraded by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) secreted my macrophages. The exact mechanism governing this final shift to phagocytic macrophages that secrete MMPs and induce FAP cell apoptosis is still unclear. Nevertheless, the final result is the restoration of muscle structure and function if this process is coordinated and terminated at the appropriate stage of healing[100, 101].

Aberrant Muscle Regeneration

During conditions of repeated muscle injury, the distinction between each of the muscle regeneration phases becomes less clear[95, 96]. Persistent danger associated molecular patterns provide pro-inflammatory stimuli, yet M2 macrophage actions lead to ECM-producing cells failure to undergo apoptosis, and there is insufficient secretion of MMPs by M1 macrophages. The final result is excessive ECM accumulation and tissue fibrosis.

Prolonged M2 activation has been shown to promote FAP cell differentiation to adipose tissue resulting in a net loss of functional myofibers[95, 96, 99, 102]. In fact, research in AIS patients has indicated that there is a marked increase in hallmark characteristics of impaired muscle regeneration, such as nuclear centralization, fibrosis and muscle atrophy, on the concave side of the spine[103]. Considering this paradigm, PM in AIS might have an asymmetric macrophage profile such that the concave side may contain more macrophages with a dominant M2 proportion.

Adiposity-driven muscle macrophage infiltration

Apart from tissue fibrosis, heightened immune activity is implicated in many diseases such as allergy/asthma, atherosclerosis, diabetes and obesity[104-106]. Since the early 1990s immunemetabolic crosstalk and its effect on tissue health has risen to the forefront of this research field. Specifically, obesity is associated with abnormal levels of inflammatory cytokines, chemical factors capable of initiating inflammatory cell signaling pathways, and this has been linked to insulin resistance in adipose tissue (AT)[107-109]. Inflammation leads to AT dysfunction and chemokine release that attract monocytes and other immune cells to AT [98, 110, 111]. Monocytes differentiate to macrophages and perpetuate an inflammatory cycle upon arrival to the tissue. AT inflammation leads to insulin resistance and will stimulate lipolysis; the spillage of fatty acids to the circulation leads to lipotoxicity and inflammation in skeletal muscle and liver[111]. Preliminary findings in murine obesity models suggest that macrophage infiltration occurs in skeletal muscle and this population is predominantly the pro-inflammatory, M1, phenotype[112-128]. Human studies of obesity driven-skeletal muscle macrophage infiltration have been less conclusive [114, 122, 129-136]. However, the general trend is for an increase in human muscle macrophage content with obesity.

The Immunometabolic CONnections to Scoliosis (ICONS) Study

The ideal approach to addressing research questions concerning AIS etiology would involve human subjects, as there are no reliable non-human models of scoliosis. Our group has devised a protocol for a translational research project called the Immune Metabolic Connections to Scoliosis (ICONS) study[89]. In the published protocol, study procedures necessary to obtain clinical data as well as collection of muscle biopsies during AIS spinal fusion surgery were described. Furthermore, special considerations have been made to aid the investigation of how muscle inflammation and fibrosis may be involved in AIS. These considerations include the collection of PM biopsies from both sides of the spine at maximal curvature points, descriptions of experiments to assess muscle macrophage phenotype and its effect on fibrosis and FAP cell differentiation. The ICONS study is a novel undertaking involving patient data, sophisticated experimental techniques and highly technical procedures for sample collection and processing. Successful completion of this project will be contingent on appropriate resource allocation and effective collaboration between clinical and research team members. As a pre-emptive measure, and to ensure the study can answer relevant biological questions related to AIS, the ICONS study feasibility needed to be determined due to the complexity of its procedures.

Feasibility studies are detailed projects that are usually conducted in preparation of the full study[137-139]. The purpose of feasibility studies is to gain information crucial to determining whether a larger scale study will be successfully completed. Large scale studies often fail due to

complications in executing study procedures, lack of sufficient funds or time to reach study completion and inability to scientifically evaluate collected data[139]. Feasibility studies provide researchers the opportunity to critically evaluate their methods, which are expected to be applied in a larger trial and to make necessary changes without misallocating valuable resources[137, 139].

The concept of feasibility studies is commonly mistaken to that of pilot studies, that are to be used for sample size calculation and estimations of treatment effects[139]. Examples of feasibility criteria include: participant recruitment potential, ability to adhere to study protocol and completeness of data collection[140]. Evaluating feasibility criteria within the ICONS study will ensure the highest probability of the successful completion of the full study.

RESEARCH QUESTIONS

This thesis project proposes the study of the feasibility of ICONS study procedures, and to explore the role the associations of spinal curving and adiposity with inflammation in PM in children with AIS. The specific research questions are as follows:

- 1. Are the procedures of the ICONS study feasible?
- 2. Is there differential inflammation in PM muscle on both sides of the scoliotic curve in AIS patients?
- 3. Is PM macrophage content influenced by whole-body adiposity?

HYPOTHESES

- 1. In youth with AIS, conducting a translational research study of muscle Immunometabolism is feasible.
- 2. In AIS patients, there is an increase in M2 macrophages on the concave side of the spinal curve compared to the convex side. Furthermore, PM macrophage content is positively associated with whole-body adiposity.

AIMS

The ICONS study protocol has proposed the collection of a robust data set and biological samples from children with AIS[89]. The specific aims of this project include:

- 1. Determine the feasibility of the proposed ICONS study procedures.
- 2. Characterize macrophage content and phenotype in paraspinal muscle of AIS patients.
- 3. Determine the association of paraspinal muscle macrophage content and phenotype with whole-body adiposity.

CHAPTER 2: Feasibility of the ICONS study procedures.

The ICONS study is a translational research project aiming to investigate crosstalk between immune and muscle cells in AIS patients. Our goal was to evaluate the feasibility of ICONS study procedures, including the acquisition of muscle biopsies obtained from AIS patients. For this reason, the following feasibility study was completed.

Feasibility criteria are important for evaluating the potential for successfully recruiting participants, collecting samples, conducting experiments and completing data analysis. In this study, we established several feasibility criteria *a priori*, which were then used to inform the need for procedural changes to successfully complete the ICONS study.

Our results indicated that ICONS study procedures are feasible for gathering clinical and questionnaire data as well as biological samples. Furthermore, we determined that resource allocation and collaboration between research and clinical staff are also feasible regarding time management, availability of space within the hospital setting. Interestingly, we determined that the initially projected recruitment rate may not be met at our center alone due to a limited number of AIS surgeries. To ensure greater access to AIS patients undergoing spinal fusion surgery we proposed prolonging study duration as well as establishing multicenter collaborations.

Understanding muscle-immune interactions in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: A feasibility study

Srikesh Rudrapatna¹, Devin Peterson², Paul Missiuna², Ishan Aditya¹, Brian Drew², Nicola Sahar¹, Lehana Thabane ^{1,3,5,6,7}, M. Constantine Samaan^{1,3,4*}

¹Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

²Department of Pediatric Surgery, Division of Orthopedics, McMaster University, Hamilton,

Ontario, Canada

³Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

⁴Division of Pediatric Endocrinology, McMaster Children's Hospital, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

⁵Department of Anesthesia, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

⁶Centre for Evaluation of Medicines, Hamilton, ON, Canada

⁷Biostatistics Unit, St Joseph's Healthcare-Hamilton, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

*Corresponding author: M. Constantine Samaan

Department of Pediatrics,

McMaster University,

1280 Main Street West, HSC-3A57

Hamilton, Ontario L8S 4K1

Tel: 001-905-521-2100, ext. 75926

Fax: 001-905-308-7548

E-mail: samaanc@mcmaster.ca

Word Count: 3363 words

Srikesh Rudrapatna, rudraps@mcmaster.ca

Devin Peterson, dpeters@mcmaster.ca

Paul Missiuna, missiunp@mcmaster.ca

Ishan Aditya, ISHAN.ADITYA@learnlink.mcmaster.ca

Brian Drew, drewb@hhsc.ca

Nicola Sahar, Nicola.sahar@mail.utoronto.ca

Lehana Thabane, thabanel@mcmaster.ca

M. Constantine Samaan, samaanc@mcmaster.ca

Abstract

Background: Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis (AIS) is the most common form of scoliosis in children, and its cause remains unknown. The Immune-metabolic CONnections to Scoliosis (ICONS) Study was designed to elucidate the potential mechanisms by which immune system-paraspinal muscle crosstalk contributes to the development of AIS. In this report, we document the evaluation of ICONS study feasibility.

Methods: This study was conducted at a tertiary pediatric academic centre in Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. We included boys and girls, aged 10-17 years with a diagnosis of AIS requiring corrective spinal surgery. Exclusion criteria included patients on high dose steroids, immunosuppressive therapy, anti-thrombotic medications, those with an active infection for 15 days before participation, autoimmune disease, pregnancy, non-idiopathic scoliosis and patients who were unwilling to consent.

Pre-determined feasibility criteria included permission to approach participants and recruitment rates of 80%, consenting of at least 80% of participants to provide biological samples, 90% or higher case report form and questionnaire completion, resources to be sufficient in at least 80% of recruitments, and the ability to successfully collect and process 80% or more of the biological samples needed for this study.

Results: Between August 2013-October 2014, we identified 32 potential participants with AIS, but had the resources to approach only 16, of which 12 (75%) agreed to be approached by the research team, and all consented to participate. Of the 12 participants recruited, 11 questionnaire packages and muscle biopsies (91.7% for each objective) were collected, while other biological samples (serum, plasma, whole blood for DNA and RNA processing, urine) were collected from all participants.

Conclusions: The ICONS study protocols and procedures are feasible. However, recruitment rates were less than predicted. For the full study, we plan on prolonging the recruitment phase and the inclusion of additional centers to achieve recruitment targets.

Keywords:

Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis Immunometabolism Macrophage Paraspinal Muscle Feasibility study ICONS study

Strengths and limitations of this study

- Study procedures have been assessed for feasibility
- The study demonstrated the feasibility of building collaborations with clinical services essential for study conduct
- This feasibility study has informed certain modifications to the procedures implemented in the Immune-metabolic CONnections to Scoliosis (ICONS) Study. This ensures successful participant recruitment, data acquisition, and sample collection and processing.
- This feasibility study informs translational researchers of the elements that need to be considered when designing translational research studies.
- This study is potentially limited by the use of tools that rely on self-reported data, and are subject to inherent biases. However, utilizing validated tools minimized the impact of these biases.
- Another limitation is the cross-sectional nature of the study. Due to the nature of the study procedures including tissue biopsies, it is not possible to use another study design at this stage.

INTRODUCTION

Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis (AIS) is the most common form of spinal curving in youth, and occur mainly in girls. While the cause of AIS remains unknown, it is likely that it is caused by a complex interaction of genes, the nervous system, hormones, metabolic dysfunction, skeletal abnormalities, biochemical factors, as well as environmental and lifestyle factors[2, 29, 35, 44-49]. In some cases, AIS is associated with several comorbidities including pain, pulmonary hypertension, and cosmetic effects, which increase the burden of this condition on the affected youth [141]

Several paraspinal tissues may play a role in AIS genesis, but the exact contribution of different tissues to the genesis of AIS are not fully understood. While paraspinal muscles are important in maintaining spinal stability and mobility, it is unclear if they contribute to the initiation or propagation of spinal curvature, or if their phenotype is secondary to scoliosis. Regardless, studying muscle profile in AIS may lead to better understanding of the mechanisms involved in the development of scoliosis.

One of the important phenotypic features noted in paraspinal muscle is the infiltration of macrophages and fibrosis, which begs the question of the role of immune system-muscle interactions in AIS etiopathogenesis[90, 95, 96, 142]. While the presence of macrophages in muscle has been commented on briefly in studies that have described these findings, no detailed phenotyping of these macrophages and their contribution to muscle pathophysiology has been undertaken.

The Immune-metabolic CONnections to Scoliosis (ICONS) study was designed to investigate the mechanisms of immune-muscle crosstalk in AIS. The protocol of the study was recently

24
published[89]. We proposed an approach of obtaining paraspinal muscle biopsies from convex and concave sides of the scoliotic curve along with sampling of blood and urine.

The complex nature of study procedures involves consenting patients to obtain biological samples for the study, the attendance of spinal surgeries to collect tissue and other biological samples, and immediate processing of tissue samples in the operating room. It was unclear whether patients would be willing to consider participating in the study, considering the invasiveness of some of the study procedures. In addition, the feasibility of collecting high-quality biological samples needed to be determined in the clinical setting.

In addition, the final goal of the study is to recruit 120 subjects, therefore determining if timelines are realistic would be important. When completed, the ICONS study will be the largest study in the field of AIS undertaken so far, so feasibility measures are critical prior to committing resources to the full study. We did not identify any previous scoliosis studies that reported on the details of study procedures in a similar setting.

Our goal in this paper is to report on the feasibility of the ICONS study clinical processes and laboratory procedures, and indicate subsequent modifications based on these results. As studies of this nature are relatively rare in the fields of pediatric orthopaedic research and translational research, our goal was to establish the feasibility of the study procedures before launching the full study.

25

METHODS

Setting and Participants

The ICONS study is being conducted at McMaster Children's Hospital, a tertiary pediatric academic center in Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. In the recently published protocol, a sample size of 120 participants recruited over five years was deemed sufficient to detect significant differences in the analyses[89].

Recruitment

Patients are recruited from the Orthopedics Clinic at the Hospital. The Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board approved the study. Figure 1 reports study recruitment procedures.

Inclusion Criteria

We included boys and girls, 10-17 years old who are diagnosed with AIS and need corrective spinal surgery.

Exclusion Criteria

For this specific study, patients with non-idiopathic scoliosis, such as congenital scoliosis and scoliosis due to neuromuscular disorders, skeletal dysplasia and syndromes were excluded. Other reasons for exclusion included patients on high dose steroids (i.e. above the physiological substitution doses of 6-8 mg/m2/day), immunosuppressants, or anti-thrombotic medications 15 days prior to surgery. In addition, exclusion criteria included smoking, active infections, autoimmune disease, pregnancy and patients who were unable or unwilling to consent, or when anthropometric measurements were not possible[89].

Consents

The healthcare team involved in the care of potential participants obtained verbal consent from participants to be approached by the study team. If the participant and parents approve, the researcher would then introduce the study and answer their questions.

If there is agreement to participate, the youth or their parent/guardian will sign the consent forms. Participants 16 years or older signed their own consent forms, while those 10-15 years of age signed an assent form while their parent/guardian signed the consent forms. Unique identifiers were assigned to allow data anonymization shortly after data and biological sample collection to ensure confidentiality.

Collection of participant data

Standardized tools were utilized to collect data regarding nutrition[143], physical activity[144], sleep[145], mental health[146, 147], and neighbourhood walkability[148]. In addition, sociodemographic data including age, sex, ethnicity, parental and participants' education, parental profession, family income, social and family history, past medical and surgical history, current medications, pregnancy and birth history, and menstrual history in girls were collected. Anthropometric and clinical measures collected included height (cm), weight (kg), from which Body Mass Index (BMI, kg/m2) and BMI percentile calculations were derived. Waist circumference (cm), hip circumference (cm), blood pressure (mmHg), heart rate (beats per minute) and grip strength (kg) using a dynamometer were measured. The fat mass percentage was tested using bioelectrical impedance (Tanita Corporation, Arlington Heights, USA)[60]. Data were managed using Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) tools hosted at McMaster University [149].

Biological sample collection & processing

The biological sample processing protocol is presented in Figure 2, and reported in detail in the published study protocol[89]. Liquid biopsies including blood and urine samples were collected after a midnight fast from central lines and urinary catheters in the operating room, respectively. All samples were processed and stored within two hours of collection. Part of the muscle biopsies was snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen, and another part was preserved in formalin immediately after collection. The formalin-treated samples were then embedded in paraffin and stored until further processing.

Blood samples

Serum: Fasting serum samples were isolated from blood samples collected into anticoagulantfree tubes (BD Life Sciences, Ontario, Canada). The samples were centrifuged for 15 min at 1500g, at room temperature. Samples were aliquoted and stored at -80°C until further processing.

Plasma: Fasting plasma samples were obtained from EDTA-treated blood samples by centrifuging for 15 min at room temperature at 1500g. Samples were loaded into cryovials for storage at -80°C until further processing.

RNA samples: PAXRNA tubes (BD Life Sciences, Ontario, Canada) were used to collect and preserve leucocyte RNA from whole blood. Samples were processed according to manufacturer's instructions and then aliquoted into cryovials and stored at -80°C until further use.

DNA samples: In the original protocol, we planned on using buffy coats to obtain DNA [89]. Based on challenges in standardizing this approach, an alternative approach of obtaining whole blood samples from EDTA-containing vacutainer tubes (BD Life Sciences, Ontario, Canada) was adopted. These samples were aliquoted into cryovials and samples were stored at -80°C until further processing.

Urine samples

Fasting urine samples were collected into 90 mL containers. The samples were then aliquoted into cryovials and frozen at -80°C until further processing.

Paraspinal muscle tissue biopsies and processing

Paraspinal muscle biopsies were obtained at points of maximal concavity and convexity of spinal curves. Samples were promptly separated from connective tissue and dried from blood, and then immediately divided into few pieces. These samples were then placed in cryovials and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen immediately. Soon after, samples were stored at -80°C until further processing. The formalin-preserved samples were embedded in paraffin by the Central Pathology Laboratory at Hamilton Health Sciences. These samples will be used in the future in staining and microscopic analyses.

Two important strategies were deployed with muscle tissue collection to preserve immune cell phenotype and integrity. First, these samples were obtained from areas where no cauterization took place, and the samples were collected before injecting adrenaline into muscle. The latter procedure is used to induce vasoconstriction but is also known to alter macrophage phenotype[150, 151]. This approach ensures the fidelity of muscle macrophage phenotype in future analyses.

Measures to determine the feasibility of study procedures

The following criteria were used to indicate the feasibility of study procedures:

Participant and parent agreement to be approached and informed about the study in 80% of cases. Of those who agree to be approached, a minimum of 80% will be consented to participate in the study. Of those who agree to participate, case report forms and questionnaires will be completed in a minimum of 90% of participants. Resource utilization including space, researchers' time, consumables, study protocol testing and laboratory apparatus use being feasible in 80% of cases. Acquisition and processing of high-quality biological samples in 80% or more of cases.

Statistical Analysis

We evaluated the feasibility of the study procedures in 10% of the total projected study sample size target. Since our target sample size is 120 participants[89], we assessed the feasibility of the study in the first 12 subjects recruited into the study.

Data are reported including the mean (SD) for continuous variables and as a number (percent) for categorical variables. Means and standard deviations were computed using SPSS version 20.0 (IBM Corp, Armonk, New York, USA). We are also reporting medians and ranges of values to provide a more comprehensive view of the participants' data, as the sample size is small.

RESULTS

Participant recruitment

The process by which patients were approached, consented and asked to provide data is outlined in Figure 1.

Participants' Demographics

Over the period from August 2013 to October 2014, while we identified 32 potential eligible participants, we had some logistical challenges in attending the clinics and ended up attending the clinic visit for only 16 of them. This was due to the fact that the students who were involved in the recruitment having scheduling conflicts and were able to only attend a limited number of visits. On one occasion, the patient was rescheduled for their clinic visit by the clinical team, and the research team was not aware of the scheduling change.

Baseline characteristics of the group are outlined in Table 1. Of the 16 subjects, 12 (75%) agreed to be approached by the research team, and all of those approached agreed to participate in the study. Four patients were excluded due to a diagnosis of kyphosis as opposed to AIS (n=1), patient had already undergone a corrective surgery and was having a revision surgery (n=1), patient had multiple sclerosis (n=1), and patient refused to meet the team due to a scheduling conflict (n=1).

Most of those recruited were female (n=11; 91.7%). Most participants were Caucasian Europeans (n=9; 75%). The average age of was 14.4 ± 1.9 years, and the majority were diagnosed

with significant AIS ($\geq 40^{\circ}$ curves) that required corrective surgery. In most cases, the spinal curve was right-sided (n=10; 83%).

Feasibility of study procedures

Pre-operative recruitment visits

Recruitment procedures were completed within 20 minutes, including presenting the research study, gathering participant signatures on consent forms and completing anthropometric measures. This indicated that the study procedures are feasible in the clinical setting where these patients are being seen prior to their surgery.

Variables	Mean (SD)	Median (range)
Age (years)	14.4 (1.9)	14.4 (11.5-17.5)
BMI (kg/m2)	20.8 (3.0)	20.1 (16.6-26.1)
BMI percentile	58.0 (27.0)	59.3 (18.5-92.5)
Body fat percentage	24.1 (6.2)	23.7 (10.3-35.4)
Cobb angle (degrees)	57.1 (14.8)	56.6 (30.0-78.7)
Pulse rate (bpm)	90.5 (14.9)	88.5 (60.0-122.0)
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	121.4 (9.9)	119.5 (108.0-143.0)
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	75.8 (8.3)	76.5 (63.0-88.0)

Table 1: Summary of participant characteristics. Abbreviations: Standard Deviation, SD; Body Mass Index, BMI; Beats Per Minute, bpm; Millimeters of Mercury, mmHg.

All 12 subjects who were approached consented to participating in the study and to providing biological samples (100%). Case report forms reporting height, weight, body fat percentage, blood pressure and resting heart rate were completed for all subjects (100%). The participants were provided with packages containing the study questionnaires and asked to take these packages home and to give back to the team on the date of surgery. Eleven subjects returned completed questionnaire packages resulting in an overall rate of 91.7% for data collection. One family did not return the package, and further contact attempts in the post-operative period while

the patient was in hospital and by phone following discharge were not successful in retrieving the package. There have been no adverse events during the conduct of the study procedures and biological sample collection.

Operating room procedures

On the morning of the surgery, the study team attended preoperative multidisciplinary team meetings that included the operating room nursing staff, Anesthesia nursing and medical staff, and Orthopaedic surgeons. The study was highlighted to the attendees who will be present in the operating room during the procedure, and specific requirements for blood, urine and tissue samples reiterated.

Regarding space utilization in the operating room, a specific location was designated for the research team while the patient was being prepared for surgery. The operating room staff set up sterile trays with the needed equipment for biopsy processing.

Once blood, urine and tissue samples were received from the clinical staff, the research staff completed the sample processing immediately as described above.

Out of all patients who consented to participate, all 12 participants provided serum, plasma, whole blood for DNA and RNA isolation, and urine. For muscle biopsy samples, 11 sets of muscle biopsies were collected by the study team (91.7%). We could not collect muscle tissue samples from one participant due to scheduling difficulties resulting in no trained researchers available to collect and process muscle samples.

Sample processing in the laboratory

Sample processing flow is demonstrated in Figure 2. This involved centrifugation of blood samples for serum and plasma isolation as well as aliquoting PAXRNA, whole blood and urine to individual cryovials. These steps were completed within 2 hours of sample collection to maintain the integrity of samples. No significant processing problems were experienced at any stage, thus blood and urine samples from all subjects were successfully collected and stored at - 80°C until further processing.

DISCUSSION

The ICONS study was designed to elucidate potential immune-metabolic mechanisms underlying AIS. Here, we report on the establishment of the feasibility of clinical and laboratory procedures of the study.

Our projected recruitment target of 80% has proven to be ambitious. However, detailed study procedure monitoring including consent procedures, instruments used for data collection, questionnaire completion rates, and biological sample collection and processing met or exceeded the pre-set targets.

Study Strengths, limitations and adjustments to procedures based on initial data

This study has several strengths. The collaborations established with different clinical services to set up recruitment procedures were instrumental in assuring successful patient recruitment. The collection of muscle biopsies prior to cauterization and adrenaline injections preserved muscle

macrophage phenotype and tissue integrity, thus allowing study questions to be addressed comprehensively, and established the feasibility of the tissue sampling for the full study.

Study procedures and equipment used have proven to be highly reliable as predetermined feasibility criteria for participant consenting, sociodemographic data collection, resource utilization and sample acquisition and processing rates were all superseded. Furthermore, the validity of all measurement tools and questionnaires implemented have already been established[143, 144]. Finally, the study protocol places limited burden on the participants, as they are providing samples while undergoing surgery, so there are no added procedures to their routine care.

We achieved lower than expected rate of participation due to scheduling challenges, but a significant number of those approached agreed to participate in the study.

Based on this data, we have designated one team member to be responsible for recruitment. This person is in charge of attending clinic visits to maximize the chances of a successful recruitment, and reduce the burden on the participants by doing all study recruitment and consenting procedures during the visit.

With these adjustments, the effect of further changes will take time to demonstrate effectiveness. We initially expected to approach around 40 patients per year based on estimated prior annual numbers of scoliosis surgeries at our center, but this was not the case during the feasibility study, with up to 30% of scoliosis cases requiring surgery being non-AIS, in addition to the situations noted above [89].

Based on our estimate of approaching 40 patients in a year we predicted a five-year recruitment period would suffice. This feasibility study is instrumental in highlighting the need for a more generous timeline for recruitment. While there is merit to this approach, the delay in knowledge generated from this project can have a significant impact on its translation to interventions that benefit patients. In addition, the sustainability of the study funding is another potential caveat to this approach.

Alternatively, expanding the study to other pediatric Orthopedic centers will help achieve our target sample size of 120 subjects. We have engaged in discussions with other centers to expand recruitment and address the sample size needed for the full study. One center is quite interested in joining the study, which will improve the recruitment timelines. There are planned discussions with other centers at this point that are interested in getting more information about the study. The feasibility of this expansion needs further evaluation to ensure its feasibility.

One potential limitation of the ICONS study is its cross-sectional design, which makes investigating causal links of muscle-immune mechanisms to AIS development difficult to establish. However, there are no reliable experimental models beyond humans to study AIS[50, 152]. In addition, the potential molecules and pathways identified in this study can be validated further in cell culture and in-vivo models as dictated by the results.

This study does not incorporate a control sample to relate muscle phenotype in AIS to non-AIS subjects. The inclusion of a control group is not feasible and is not justified ethically, as this would expose healthy children or those with less severe degrees of scoliosis to potential harms of

36

invasive biopsy procedures. In addition, longitudinal study designs are also not appropriate, as we cannot implement multiple biopsies to measure muscle inflammation with curve progression over time. Ultimately, our cross-sectional design is the most appropriate approach.

The study is susceptible to various sources of bias. Selection bias may occur if our sample was not representative of the pediatric population with AIS by including other types of scoliosis. This is likely to be limited, as our population of pediatric patients with AIS requiring surgery constitutes a representative group of patients for the AIS population, and we consecutively approached and recruited participants to eliminate such bias.

Recall bias may also occur when participants are completing questionnaires that inquire about subjective and/or past lifestyle or family history-related factors. We attempted to minimize this bias by correlating self-reported data with clinically obtained data that was relevant to the immediate perioperative period.

Social desirability bias may also be a threat given the subjective nature of the lifestyle questionnaires. We utilized structured data collection tools that are previously reported to reflect the clinical phenotype of children accurately[143, 144, 153, 154].

Potential outcomes of our research

The novelty of the study offers significant implications to patients with AIS. Identifying potential mechanisms underlying AIS will create new knowledge that can be translated into interventions to prevent and treat AIS. This study may also guide further experimental work in cell-based and

animal models to test specific pathways that mediate AIS. Collectively, this may allow the creation of interventions that can be tested to validate their efficacy and safety.

In addition, new insights to the complications of AIS may be gleaned from this experimental work, whereby new approaches to prevent these complications may emerge from understanding the pathogenesis of AIS, ensuring improved outcomes. Importantly, our results may develop novel insights into immune-metabolic crosstalk in AIS, which may be an important aspect of the etiopathogenesis of this condition.

Our work is also of importance in the field of translational research studies in pediatrics. AIS affects millions of children around the world, and causal factors are not fully understood. As paraspinal muscle provides spinal stability and directs spinal motion, it is critical that we understand the muscle- and immune-based mechanisms that may contribute to AIS. It is also important to inform the scoliosis research community about the potential for success of studies similar to ours, and to highlight the need for early consideration of sample size achievement. In addition, this paper will be of broader importance to colleagues performing translational research to describe approaches to study procedures and anticipated outcomes.

CONCLUSION

We have determined that the protocols and procedures for the ICONS study are feasible. However, to overcome the lower than expected recruitment rates, we will consider the prolongation of the inclusion period and the expansion of the study to new centers. We will be moving with the implementation of these protocols taking these considerations into account.

List of Abbreviations

AIS = Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis ICONS = Immune-metabolic CONnections to Scoliosis BMI = Body Mass Index mmHg = Millimeters of Mercury

Declarations: None

Ethics Approval: The Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board approved the study (HiREB approval no.12-529).

Consent for publication: Not applicable: The manuscript contains no individual person's data in any form (including individual details, images or videos), so no consent to publish have been obtained from patients or their parent or legal guardian.

Availability of data: Data are available upon request sent to the corresponding author with justification.

Competing Interests: None to be declared.

Funding: This project received funding from the Hamilton Health Sciences Spine Program, Division of Orthopedic Surgery, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Health Sciences, McMaster University. **Author Contributions**: MCS is the guarantor. MCS, LT, PM, DP, and BD conceived the study question. SR, PM, DP, NS, BD, IA and MCS were responsible for creating and implementing study procedures including participant recruitment, data collection, sample processing and sample storage. MCS, PM, DP, BD, LT, IA and SR designed feasibility study criteria. LT provided additional expertise on statistical methods and assisted the development of the study design. SR, NS, IA and MCS drafted the manuscript including figures and tables. All authors contributed to the manuscript by suggesting revisions, providing comments and approving the submission of the final version of the manuscript.

Acknowledgment: We thank the participants and families for taking part in the study. We also would like to thank Ms. Kuan-Wen Wang for her editorial comments.

Figures



Figure 1: ICONS study recruitment and study procedure



Figure 2: Biological sample processing flow chart

CHAPTER 3:

Characterization of macrophage content and phenotype in

paraspinal muscle of AIS patients.

INTRODUCTION

There is a documented association between the incidence of scoliosis development and diseases that implicate dysregulated TGF-ß signaling such as Marfan syndrome (60% of patients) and Loeys-Dietz syndrome (46% of patients)[155, 156]. Thus, one proposition is that in the non-syndromic case of AIS, patients may possess an underlying genetic pathology implicating unbalanced expression of TGF-ßs and its receptors in muscles on the sides of the spine, ultimately manifesting poor PM remodeling and differential fibrosis. Elevated TGF-ß gene expression and fibrosis were observed on the concave side of the spine in AIS patients[94, 103]. The release of anti-inflammatory cytokines and growth factors is a characteristic function of M2 macrophages and is crucial to muscle remodeling by promoting satellite cell differentiation[95]. However, this M2-macrophage activity must be carefully balanced by M1-macrophage release of pro-inflammatory cytokines to induce timely ECM removal and avoid fibrosis[157]. These findings suggest that AIS patients may have dysfunctional muscle remodeling on the concave side of the spine, spine, which may result from a persistent M2-dominant inflammatory response.

Chemokines act as chemical signals that induce monocyte migration from circulation into various tissues such as skeletal muscle[111]. For example, monocytes infiltrate skeletal muscle in response to CCL2 and later differentiate to a unique phenotype of macrophage based on the sensed microenvironment[98]. Macrophage phenotype may be defined by the presence of certain cell surface proteins. Although macrophages have been previously described as either M1 or M2, they in fact, exist on a spectrum of activated phenotypes where the extent to which M1 or M2-like characteristics are displayed is determined by the type of cell surface markers expressed, and Table 1 summarizes these patterns[158, 159]. Some of these markers include cluster of

differentiation (CD) 68, a pan-macrophage marker, CD11c (M1/dendritic cell marker) and CD206 and CD301 (M2 macrophage markers). Each of these cell surface proteins supports the macrophage's unique functions such as cytokine and growth factor recognition and cell interactions.

M1-Polarized	M2-Polarized
CD-11c ^{hi}	CD-11c ^{low}
CCR2 ^{hi}	CCR2 ^{low}
TLR-4 ^{hi}	TLR-4 ^{low}
TLR-2 ^{hi}	TLR-2 ^{low}
CD206 ^{low}	CD206 ^{hi}
CD301 ^{low}	CD301 ^{hi}
ARG-1 ^{low}	ARG-1 ^{hi}

Table 2: Summary of macrophage polarization markers.

METHODS

A description of participant recruitment and sample collection procedures is provided in Chapter 2 above. Further detail may also be found in the previously published protocol paper[89]. In short, patients were recruited from the orthopedic clinic at McMaster Children's Hospital. Patients who were between 10-17 years old and diagnosed with severe AIS requiring surgery were included in this study. Patients, and parents were informed of study procedures with a clear description of how anthropometric measurements and biological samples would be collected. Patients who agreed to participate, as well as their parents if under 16 years of age, signed

consent forms approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board. Children between 7-15 years of age signed an assent form.

Anthropometric Measurements

Once a patient agreed to participate, height and weight was measured using a stadiometer and weighing scale, respectively. These data were then used for body mass index (BMI) calculation as per the equation: $BMI = Mass (Kg)/Height (m)^2$. Furthermore, waist and hip circumference were measured using a spring-loaded measuring tape followed by body fat percent measurement using bioelectrical impedance monitor for children (Tanita Corporation, Illinois, USA).

Muscle biopsies

Erector spinae muscle samples from the apical portions of the convex and concave sides of the spine were provided obtained during surgery. It is important to note that samples were taken prior to cauterization and adrenaline injection as these measures may alter macrophage phenotype[150, 151]. Immediately following biopsy, excess blood was dried and connective tissue attachments excised from muscle. Once complete, samples were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C, and a small piece placed in 10% formalin until further processing[89].

Gene Expression Analysis

Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR) was performed on RNA isolated from muscle biopsies to quantify macrophage marker gene expression. Genes profiled included pan-macrophage marker (CD68), M1-marker (CD11c), and M2- markers (CD206, CD 301).

Homogenization was performed by suspending 50mg of powdered muscle tissue in 1000μ L Trizol (Invitrogen, Mississauga) followed by bead-based mechanical homogenization at 5000rpm for 20s (Precellys Tissue Homogenizer, Bertin Instruments, Rockville, USA). The homogenate was then spun at 8000g for 10min at 4°C. RNA was then extracted and cleared of RNase contamination using 140 μ L chloroform and phase separated with 600 μ L of hydrophobic 100% ethanol. RNA extraction and purification was conducted with an RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Toronto) whereby, total RNA binds to the RNeasy membrane that is then washed to elute RNA back into solution.

Next, complimentary DNA (cDNA) synthesis was conducted using a SuperScriptTM VILOTM cDNA Synthesis Kit (Invitrogen, Burlington, Canada). Then, 1600ng of RNA was reverse transcribed to cDNA using 2 μ L of 10X SuperScriptTM Enzyme Mix which includes reverse transcriptase enzyme, recombinant ribonuclease inhibitor and RNaseOUTTM. In addition, 4 μ L of 5X VILOTM reaction mix containing random primers, MgCl₂, dNTPs and an optimized buffer. The 20 μ L reaction was conducted in a Thermal Cycler (Montreal Biotech Inc., Dorval, Canada) set for 25°C (10 min), 42°C (120 min) and 85°C (5 min).

Lastly, qRT-PCR of 400ng cDNA was completed in duplicate, using TaqMan assay primer/probe mixes, 10X PCR Buffer, MgCl₂, 2mM dNTPs (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, USA). Each qRT-PCR cycle consisted of 95°C for 10s and 65°C for 45s with direct detection of PCR products at 470nm using Corbett Research Rotor-Gene qRT-PCR machine (Montreal Biotech Inc., Dorval, Canada).

Protein Expression Analysis

Western blotting was conducted to quantify the macrophage marker protein content in muscle samples. We tested CD68, CD11c, CD206 and CD301. Fifty milligrams of powdered muscle tissue was combined with 300 μ L of lysis buffer containing protease inhibitor (cOmplete Tablets mini, Roche, Mannheim, Germany) and 1% dithiothreitol, 5% Triton-X, 0.5% sodium orthovanadate (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Canada). Mechanical homogenization was conducted as described in Gene Expression Analysis above.

To determine protein concentration, a bicinchoninic acid assay (BCA) was conducted using a PierceTM BCA Protein Assay kit (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, USA). Following manufacturer's instructions, absorbance at 562nm for unknown proteins was extrapolated using a standard curve created by protein standards ranging from 0-2000 μ g/mL. Absorbance readings were conducted using a SpectraMax M5 device (Molecular Devices, (Marshall Scientific, Hampton, USA). Once concentrations of each sample were determined, aliquots of $2.5\mu g/\mu L$ of protein lysate were reduced using a 3:1 ratio of protein to 4X laemmli sample buffer (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, Canada). Lastly, prepared samples were boiled at 95°C for 5 minutes to ensure denaturation of proteins.

Proteins were separated based on molecular weight via sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). SDS containing polyacrylamide gels were prepared with a 4% stacking layer (0.5M Tris-HCl pH 6.8) and a 7.5% resolving layer (1.5M Tris-HCl pH 8.8). Polymerization of each layer was induced with Tetramethylethylenediamine and 10% ammonium persulfate in a 1:10 ratio. A Mini-PROTEAN Tetra Vertical Cell (Bio-Rad,

Mississauga) was used to induce a 90V electric current forcing protein to migrate through the gel for 100 minutes.

Next, a wet transfer was performed onto a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane. A sponge was placed on one side of a clamp. Next, blotting paper followed by PVDF membrane were placed, taking care to ensure no air bubbles were present among layers. The polyacrylamide gel containing separated protein was then gently placed on the membrane, again avoiding air bubbles. Placing another layer of blotting paper and a sponge completed this sandwich, and this was placed in a Mini-Transblot Cell (Bio-Rad, Mississauga) set at 90V current for 90 minutes at 4°C.

To visualize transfer efficiency and quantify total protein bands on the PVDF membrane, an anionic, Ponceau S stain (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville) was applied for 5 minutes. An image of the Ponceau S stain was acquired using a Fusion Fx 7 imaging station (Montreal Biotech Incorporated, Dorval, Canada) and Vilber software version 15.11 (Fusion Marne-la-Vallée, France). Importantly, this image of the total protein was used as a loading control as opposed to housekeeping proteins, such as β-actin and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH). β-Actin have previously been shown to partake in intracellular reactions, which can alter their expression profiles[160, 161]. GAPDH levels in human skeletal muscle seem to be fiber type dependent and due to the reported uneven fiber type distribution in PM, we chose not to include a specific protein as the loading control[162]. The Ponceau S stain is an anionic stain, which binds to all proteins and thus provides an accurate estimate of protein content.

The membrane was then washed in tris-buffered saline and 1% Tween[™]20 (TBS-T; Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Canada) followed by 60-minute treatment in blocking solution of 5% non-fat milk in TBS-T. Primary rabbit, monoclonal antibodies including CD68 (Cell Signaling Technology, Beverly, USA #86985) and CD206 (Abcam, Toronto, Canada, ab64693) were applied overnight at 4°C with gentle rocking. Primary antibodies were diluted 1:1000 in 5% bovine serum albumin in TBS-T. Next, membranes were washed with TBS-T for 30 minutes and incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated, anti-rabbit secondary antibodies diluted 1:10000 a solution of 5% non-fat milk in TBS-T. Bands of proteins of interest were detected using SuperSignal West Femto Maximum Sensitivity (Thermo Scientific, Mississauga, Canada), a substrate which chemiluminesces upon reaction with HRP. The chemiluminescence produced was imaged using a Fusion Fx 7 imaging station (Montreal Biotech Incorporated, Dorval, Canada) and Vilber software version 15.11 (Fusion Marne-la-Vallée, France). Protein bands were quantified using Image J, version 1.50i (National Institutes of Health, Maryland) and standardized to the total protein.

STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Participant demographics and descriptive statistics are reported as mean (standard deviation) for continuous variables, or number (%) for categorical variables. Gene expression results from qRT-PCR experiments have been analyzed using the delta-delta cycle threshold ($\Delta\Delta$ Ct) method with respect to a reference gene (β-actin)[163]. Results from western blots are reported as a ratio of protein of interest to total protein quantified using Ponceau S stain. Paired sample t-tests were conducted for mean comparisons on data originating from the same participant. Between-subject mean comparisons were tested for statistical significance by one-way analysis of variance

(ANOVA). Due to the small gene and protein expression sample size (n = 6-8), data were Log_{10} transformed to attempt the creation of a normally distributed variable set. P-values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

RESULTS

Demographics

Participant demographics for the 7 females and 1 male included in the preliminary analysis are provided in Table 3. All participants met inclusion/exclusion criteria and consented to undergo spinal fusion surgery. Due to small sample size, the table reports the mean and median values.

Variables	Mean (SD)	Median (range)
Age (years)	13.9 (1.6)	13 (12-17)
BMI (kg/m2)	19.3 (2.6)	19.7 (15.6-23.6)
BMI percentile	50.2 (28.9)	42.5 (18.5-83.7)
Body fat percentage	22.0 (5.7)	23.4 (10.3-27.4)
Cobb angle (degrees)	61.9 (14.3)	60.1 (40.0-80.0)
Pulse rate (bpm)	94.5 (14.5)	88.5 (83.0-122.0)
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	116.8 (5.8)	117 (108.0-125.0)
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	71.0 (8.1)	68.5 (63.0-82.0)

Table 3: Summary of participant characteristics (n=8). Abbreviations: SD, Standard Deviation; BMI, Body Mass Index; bpm, Beats Per Minute; mmHg, Millimeters of Mercury.

Macrophages in PM of AIS patients on both sides of the spinal curve

To determine if macrophages are present in PM, mRNA quantification using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method was conducted for CD68, a pan-macrophage marker.

First, the difference in cycle threshold (Ct) values for CD68 and β-actin were calculated on both sides of the spine. A sample calculation for concave PM CD68 gene expression is provided below:

$\Delta Ct_{concave \ CD68} = Ct_{Concave \ CD68} - Ct_{Concave \ b-actin}$

To compare CD68 gene expression between the sides of the scoliotic spine, all Ct values were normalized to concave PM gene expression. The equation for this is as follows:

Convex Fold Change = $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$, where $\Delta\Delta Ct = \Delta Ct_{Convex CD68} - \Delta Ct_{Concave CD68}$

The data were Log_{10} transformed to ensure normal distribution. Means comparisons using a paired sample, student t-test revealed there were no significant differences between convex and concave CD68 mRNA levels (Figure 3, n=8; Log(Convex/Concave_{CD68 mRNA})=0.052, SE=0.049, p=0.33).



Figure 3: Convex PM CD68 gene expression normalized to concave PM; n=8

PM Macrophage phenotypic differences in PM in AIS patients

Similar calculations were conducted to evaluate the change in M1 marker, CD11c and M2macrophage subtype markers CD206 and CD301 on the convex versus concave side. Gene expression of these macrophage subtype markers was calculated with respect to the panmacrophage marker, CD68. A sample calculation for CD206 gene expression is provided below:

- 1. $\Delta Ct_{concave CD206/CD68} = Ct_{Concave CD206} Ct_{Concave CD68}$
- 2. $\Delta Ct_{convex CD206/CD68} = Ct_{Convex CD206} Ct_{Concvex CD68}$
- 3. Convex Fold Change = $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$, where $\Delta\Delta Ct = \Delta Ct_{Convex CD206/CD68} \Delta Ct_{Concave CD206/CD68}$

Again, data were Log_{10} transformed to ensure normal distribution. Next, we conducted a pairedsamples, student t-test and determined that markers of macrophage subtype do not differ between the sides of the scoliotic spine (Figure 4a-c; p=0.856, 0.340 and 0.202, respectively)



Figure 4a-c: Macrophage subtype marker gene expression with respect to pan-macrophage marker, CD68. Data are normalized to concave PM and log transformed to ensure normal distribution, n=8; a) CD206; p=0.856 b) CD301; p=0.340 c) CD11c; p=0.202.

Profiles of macrophage markers' protein expression

In accordance with the gene expression profile, western blot data indicates that CD68 protein levels are equal between the points of maximal concavity and convexity (n=6, p=0.314). Interestingly, western blot data revealed a trend towards increased M2 macrophage marker, CD206, on the convex side of the spine (n=6, p=0.072). Representative images for western blot data and a graph comparing relative CD206 expression is provided in **Figure 5**, below. CD 301 and CD11c analysis did not result in a detectable product.



Figure 5: Representative western blot images for subjects 3 and 4 in the ICONS study.



Figure 6a-b: Graphical representation of a) CD68 b) CD206 protein expression relative to total protein. n=6

DISCUSSION

We aimed to determine the content and phenotype of macrophages within both sides of the scoliotic spine PM, as we had hypothesized that concave PM would exhibit an elevated, M2-dominant macrophage population[94, 103].

To accomplish this, we conducted gene expression analyses of a pan-macrophage marker (CD68) and subtype-specific markers (CD206, CD301 and CD11c). These results suggest that, although macrophages are present in PM, their content and phenotypic distribution is not significantly different on either side of the spine.

It is important to note, gene transcripts are not biological effectors as they must still be translated to the functional protein[164]. Therefore, we conducted western blot analyses for protein expression. Accordingly, CD68 protein expression did not vary on either side. On the other hand, CD206 protein levels tended to be greater in convex PM, seemingly contradicting our hypothesis. Considering TGF- β 1 is a potent stimulator of ECM production and that macrophages are the primary source of TGF- β 1 in muscle remodeling[94, 97, 142], we hypothesized that concave PM would exhibit a dominant, M2-biased macrophage population. To better understand our results, it is important to recognize that genetic transcripts and their translational products, proteins, may not always correlate. Future studies must include a larger sample size to confirm these results.

Correlation between Macrophage Marker mRNA and Protein levels

It is thought that the production of functional proteins begins with DNA transcription to mRNA followed by its translation to a large sequence of amino acids[79]. This sequence of amino acids is then post-translationally modified to obtain its final, quaternary protein structure. With the many stages involved between mRNA production and the presence of a final protein product, we expected a degree of variability between mRNA and protein expression, which was seen with the lack of a detectable protein product for CD11c and CD301 in this small sample[164]. In fact, various post-transcriptional factors alter the concordance between qRT-PCR and western blot data by manipulating, mRNA translation rates, mRNA half-lives and intracellular location of transcripts[165-167].

Owing to its cross-sectional design, the present study cannot be used to investigate the potentially transient nature of these factors influencing mRNA translation. It has been previously suggested that patients with AIS undergo a period, approximately 18 months, when the spine begins curving and cannot be detected clinically[52]. After this period it is possible that the original curving stimulus is lost and the perpetual spinal curving occurs solely due to biomechanical reasons, thus explaining our lack of consistent findings among severe cases[52]. It is possible that during these 18 months, AIS PM experienced a period of monocyte infiltration which has since reached homeostasis. During the initial stages, these monocytes would have required stimuli to promote the production of various cell surface proteins and cytokines as part of their differentiation process[95, 157]. Since all patients included in this study presented with severe scoliosis, we may have missed this active monocyte differentiation phase thereby explaining low, and unchanged, levels of gene transcripts, which differs from that of protein expression.

Future Directions

Macrophage subsets, especially concerning the M2 phenotypes, are highly variable and our ability to identify and distinguish them is still an emerging field in scientific research. To further characterize the phenotypic distribution of macrophages in AIS PM, future studies should incorporate cytokines and growth factors uniquely produced by macrophage subtypes such as TNF- α and CCL2 by M1 and IL-4, IL-13 and TGF- β by M2 macrophages[168].

In addition, future studies should aim to conduct Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining to colocalize various combinations of macrophage markers. This investigation would be crucial in

determining the characteristics of a unique, AIS-associated, macrophage phenotype. For example, Tidball (2017) suggests a "transitional macrophage" phenotype equally expresses M1 and M2-like characteristics and this exacerbates fibrogenic tissue formation by preventing an inflammation resolution phase[97]. IHC analyses would be valuable in determining the spatial relationship between unique types of macrophages and other objects in the tissue microenvironment. This will add further insight on the mechanisms leading to poor PM health, which is observed in AIS patients. Ultimately, a clearer understanding of a potentially dysregulated immune response to muscle regeneration may open avenues for implementing immune-based therapies to supplement the current AIS treatment options.

Chapter 4:

Determining the association of whole-body adiposity with

PM macrophage content and phenotype
Introduction

Profound changes to lifestyle, including high caloric diet and sedentary lifestyles, have resulted in a global obesity epidemic[169]. In children, obesity has an especially devastating impact on longevity as this is associated with higher rates of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease during adulthood[170, 171]. These metabolic diseases shorten the lifespan and increase healthcare costs drastically. To prevent these negative effects, a primary focus of medical science research today involves determining exact mechanisms by which obesity leads to metabolic diseases.

Total adiposity is measured via whole-body densitometry or bioelectrical impedance provide a rating of percent body fat (%BF), while central adiposity is measured by calculating waist-to-hip (WHR) and waist-to-height (WHtR) ratios[172]. Based on our data indicating the presence of macrophages in PM of AIS patients, we aimed to investigate whether adiposity profiles correlated with PM macrophage content and phenotype. Furthermore, considering many AIS patients present with low-fat mass, and taller stature, we were curious to determine whether this adiposity pattern correlated with a unique macrophage subtype in PM, and to see if adiposity correlates positively with inflammation in PM.

Methods

A detailed description of participant recruitment, sample collection and experimental procedures may be found in Chapters 2 and 3 above. Briefly, patients diagnosed with severe AIS and would be undergoing spinal surgery were approached. During a recruitment visit, researchers informed the patient and their family members of the study's purpose and what methods would be

M.Sc. Thesis - S. Rudrapatna; McMaster University - Medical Sciences

involved. After detailing the patients on how body measurements and biological samples would be collected, researchers asked for their consent. If the patient was under the age of 16, the parents/ guardians would sign consent forms as well. Children 7-15 years of age signed assent forms.

Once patients signed the consent form height, weight, hip circumference and waist circumference were recorded. In addition, %BF was measured using a bioelectrical impedance scale (Tanita Corporation, Illinois, USA).

During surgery, the surgeon harvested muscle biopsies from both sides of the spine at the level of maximal curvature. Samples were then divided into smaller pieces, all of which were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until further processing; a small piece was preserved in 10% formalin.

Statistical Analysis

All data were log transformed before conducting the Spearman's rank correlation analysis. Data are reported such that a p-value of < 0.05 indicate statistical significance.

Results

Associations between PM macrophage content and adiposity was determined using Spearman's rank correlations. Total PM mRNA (n=8) and protein expression (n=6) of macrophage marker, CD68, was determined with respect to the adiposity descriptors, %BF, WHR and WHtR. As there were no differences in total macrophage content in PM muscle on both sides of the curve,

total PM CD68 gene expression was calculated as an average of concave and convex mRNA levels. Similarly, total PM CD68 protein expression was calculated as the average of concave and convex protein expression. Spearman rank correlation coefficients and their respective significance values are indicated in Table 4.

Total PM CD68 protein content positively correlates with fat mass

A significant, positive relationship was observed between CD68 protein and %BF (rho=0.943, p=0.005, n=6). The same trend was not seen with CD68 gene expression (rho=-0.262, p=0.531, n=8).

Correlation between total PM macrophage subtypes and adiposity

To test whether macrophage phenotype correlates with adiposity patterns, similar Spearman rank correlation analysis was conducted on protein and gene expression of the M2-macrophage marker, CD206 and M1/ dendritic cell maker, CD11c. Western blot analyses of CD11c (ab52632 1° antibody, Abcam, Toronto, Canada) yielded no protein bands. Our results indicate that neither mRNA nor protein levels of CD206 and mRNA of CD11c correlate with %BF, WHR or WHtR. Furthermore, we included analyses for the gene expression of another M2 maker, CD301 and observed a trend towards positive correlation with %BF (rho=0.707, p=0.050, n=8).

Discussion

Based on previous evidence of obesity-driven adipose tissue and skeletal muscle macrophage infiltration, we aimed to investigate whether adiposity patterns explain macrophage content in

Macrophage Marker	Adiposity Measure	Spearman Rho	P-Value
CD68	% BF	0.943	0.005**
Protein n=6	WHR	0.257	0.623
	WHtR	0.029	0.957
CD68 mRNA n=8	% BF	-0.262	0.531
	WHR	-0.357	0.385
	WHtR	-0.405	0.320
CD206 Protein n=6	% BF	-0.086	0.872
	WHR	-0.543	0.266
	WHtR	-0.543	0.266
CD206 mRNA n=8	% BF	-0.095	0.823
	WHR	-0.167	0.693
	WHtR	-0.262	0.531
CD301 mRNA n=8	% BF	0.707	0.050*
	WHR	0.587	0.126
	WHtR	0.491	0.217
CD11c mRNA n=8	% BF	-0.333	0.420
	WHR	0.167	0.693
	WHtR	0.167	0.693

AIS PM. To accomplish this, we determined correlations between adiposity markers (%BF, WHR and WHtR) and macrophage markers (CD68, CD206, CD301 and CD11c).

Table 4: Table	representing S	Spearman's Rai	nk Correlation	coefficients	between PM	1 expression
of macrophage	markers and a	diposity measur	es.			

*represents a trend towards statistical significance, **statistical significance (p<0.05) *BMI*, body mass index; *WHR*, waist to hip ratio; *WHtR*, waist to height ratio

The exploratory findings of the present study indicate that a general increase in PM macrophage content correlates with increased whole-body adiposity. Furthermore, we observed a trend towards a positive correlation between CD301 mRNA levels and %BF. As suggested by Zeyda et al. (2007), this would support the theory that M2-macrophages are predominant in human tissues with an excessive lipid content[173]. The observed M2 dominance in human tissues may

M.Sc. Thesis - S. Rudrapatna; McMaster University - Medical Sciences

be due to a compensatory mechanism preventing lipotoxicity by promoting macrophagemediated lipid endocytosis and upregulated adipogenesis[173, 174]. Interestingly, this is not supported by CD206 gene and protein expression from the present study, suggesting PM macrophage phenotype is likely more diverse. However, larger sample size and co-staining of macrophages to discover intermediate phenotypes versus M1 and M2 phenotypes is needed to assess this.

An emerging field in Immunometabolism and obesity research is the study of infiltrating macrophages in skeletal muscle[111]. It is hypothesized that macrophages accumulate in skeletal muscle of obese individuals, which activates inflammatory signaling pathways[111, 112, 175-177]. Evidence for this hypothesis is seen in diet-induced obesity murine models[114, 115, 117, 118, 121-123, 125]. In humans however, findings are much less consistent where some indicate elevation of pro-inflammatory macrophages[114, 117, 122, 132, 136] while others indicate no change in M1-macrophage content with increasing adiposity[131, 134, 178]. Perhaps the discordance between murine and human models is due to a capacity of human physiology to buffer disturbances in tissue homeostasis[179]. Further study in human subjects is necessary to confidently determine macrophage phenotype in PM and skeletal muscle in general, and specifically among AIS patients.

Limitations and Future Directions

Our data present with discordance between protein and gene expression data, which may be a result of factors altering expression and translation of mRNA, as discussed in Chapter 3. One of these factors may be the advanced stage of scoliosis in our sample[52]. As a result, the active

M.Sc. Thesis - S. Rudrapatna; McMaster University - Medical Sciences

inflammatory phase where gene expression directly influenced protein synthesis and thus, macrophage polarizing stimuli may have ended by the time biopsies were obtained.

Our samples may be describing the final stages whereby inflammation resolution is driving macrophage content and polarization.

Future studies should continue to characterize macrophage subtypes present in PM by means of proteomics in AIS PM. In addition, lipid accumulation in PM must be objectively quantified to further shed light on the nature of adiposity and its association with PM macrophage content. There may be differences between the postural muscles studied here compared to the past work done solely in phasic muscles such as quadriceps and gastrocnemius or soleus muscles.

Particularly, key differences in fiber type distribution may confound our findings since fiber types have unique metabolic profiles known to drive substrate utilization[180]. In fact, it has already been shown that type 1 fibers are highly oxidative and selectively metabolize lipids as a fuel source[180]. Interestingly, these fibers seem to predominate the convex muscle of PM and this is likely an adaption to the compensatory mechanisms associated with constant muscle activity that is potentially attempting to respond to the spinal curve[92, 181-183].

Furthermore, past work examining lipid accumulation has identified a phenomenon known as the "athlete's paradox" whereby endurance trained athletes exhibit increased intramuscular triglyceride accumulation[184]. Even more interestingly, skeletal muscle in these individuals does not seem to be negatively affected by the commonly associated inflammation and negative

effects on insulin signaling seen in obese individuals[184-186]. This would open more research avenues in PM of AIS patients with potential implications in the study of metabolic health.

Chapter 5: Conclusions

M.Sc. Thesis - S. Rudrapatna; McMaster University - Medical Sciences

In an effort to assess resource allocation, and to troubleshoot the ICONS project early in its inception, the feasibility study was conducted. Subsequently, processes and procedures were deemed feasible, and will lead to project success [137-139][89].

The results of the feasibility study indicate that we achieved a lower than expected recruitment rate of 75% as opposed to 80%. However, detailed study procedure monitoring including consent procedures, data collection instruments, questionnaire completion rates, and biological sample collection and processing met or exceeded the pre-set targets. This indicates that effective collaborations with clinical and research teams can be established as part of a translational research effort. Furthermore, the quality of samples obtained is suitable for bench research to provide unparalleled insights into the mechanisms involved in AIS.

One limitation in this study was the less than predicted rate of study enrollment. To address this issue, we aim to incorporate multiple centers to ensure an adequate sample size is obtained in a timely manner. We will also aim to prolong recruitment duration.

Overall, we hope this feasibility study will inform future researchers of the optimal clinical and laboratory procedures for research on pediatric populations.

This work also demonstrated that macrophage content and phenotype appear to be similar in PM on both sides of the scoliotic curves. Larger studies are needed to confirm this trend, and to determine the presence of AIS subtypes where inflammation may be a more relevant mechanism compared to others. In addition, further analysis of macrophage phenotype and cells involved in

fibrosis e.g.FAPs, will shed light on the factors driving muscle health in AIS and will potentially help define therapies that can stop or slow down spinal curve progression and maintain PM health.

In conclusion, this work demonstrates that complex translational studies involving children are possible, and provide critical insights into common diseases in children. The knowledge gained from this work informs more advanced frameworks to study childhood scoliosis and define novel pathways that can be targeted to treat and prevent AIS.

REFERENCES

- 1. Konieczny, M.R., H. Senyurt, and R. Krauspe, *Epidemiology of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis.* J Child Orthop, 2013. **7**(1): p. 3-9.
- 2. Newton Ede, M.M. and S.W. Jones, *Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: evidence for intrinsic factors driving aetiology and progression*. Int Orthop, 2016. **40**(10): p. 2075-2080.
- 3. Berdishevsky, H., et al., *Physiotherapy scoliosis-specific exercises a comprehensive review of seven major schools*. Scoliosis Spinal Disord, 2016. **11**: p. 20.
- 4. Negrini, S., et al., *Recommendations for research studies on treatment of idiopathic scoliosis: Consensus 2014 between SOSORT and SRS non-operative management committee.* Scoliosis, 2015. **10**: p. 8.
- 5. Rowe, D.E., et al., *A meta-analysis of the efficacy of non-operative treatments for idiopathic scoliosis.* J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1997. **79**(5): p. 664-74.
- 6. Wang, W., et al., Body composition in males with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a case-control study with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. BMC Musculoskelet Disord, 2016.
 17: p. 107.
- Trobisch, P., O. Suess, and F. Schwab, *Idiopathic scoliosis*. Dtsch Arztebl Int, 2010. 107(49): p. 875-83; quiz 884.
- 8. Clark, E.M., et al., Association between components of body composition and scoliosis: a prospective cohort study reporting differences identifiable before the onset of scoliosis. J Bone Miner Res, 2014. **29**(8): p. 1729-36.
- 9. Cheng, J.C., et al., *Genetic association of complex traits: using idiopathic scoliosis as an example.* Clin Orthop Relat Res, 2007. **462**: p. 38-44.
- 10. Veldhuizen, A.G., D.J. Wever, and P.J. Webb, *The aetiology of idiopathic scoliosis: biomechanical and neuromuscular factors*. Eur Spine J, 2000. **9**(3): p. 178-84.
- 11. Stokes, I.A. and D.D. Aronsson, *Disc and vertebral wedging in patients with progressive scoliosis.* J Spinal Disord, 2001. **14**(4): p. 317-22.
- 12. Noshchenko, A., et al., *Predictors of spine deformity progression in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: A systematic review with meta-analysis.* World J Orthop, 2015. **6**(7): p. 537-58.
- 13. Lonstein, J.E. and J.M. Carlson, *The prediction of curve progression in untreated idiopathic scoliosis during growth*. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1984. **66**(7): p. 1061-71.
- 14. Agabegi, S.S., et al., *Natural History of Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis in Skeletally Mature Patients: A Critical Review.* J Am Acad Orthop Surg, 2015. **23**(12): p. 714-23.
- 15. Ball, G.D. and L.J. McCargar, *Childhood obesity in Canada: a review of prevalence estimates and risk factors for cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes.* Can J Appl Physiol, 2003. **28**(1): p. 117-40.
- Bettany-Saltikov, J., et al., Surgical versus non-surgical interventions in people with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2015(4): p. CD010663.
- 17. Danielsson, A.J., et al., *Health-related quality of life in patients with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a matched follow-up at least 20 years after treatment with brace or surgery*. European Spine Journal, 2001. **10**(4): p. 278-288.

- 18. Misterska, E., et al., *Perception of stress level, trunk appearance, body function and mental health in females with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis treated conservatively: a longitudinal analysis.* Qual Life Res, 2013. **22**(7): p. 1633-45.
- 19. Reichel, D. and J. Schanz, *Developmental psychological aspects of scoliosis treatment*. Pediatric Rehabilitation, 2003. **6**(3-4): p. 221-225.
- 20. Rushton, P.R. and M.P. Grevitt, *Comparison of untreated adolescent idiopathic scoliosis* with normal controls: a review and statistical analysis of the literature. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2013. **38**(9): p. 778-85.
- 21. Souder, C., et al., *Factors in Surgical Decision Making for Thoracolumbar/Lumbar AIS: It's About More Than Just the Curve Magnitude.* J Pediatr Orthop, 2016.
- 22. Naeye, R.L., *Kyphoscoliosis and cor pulmonale; a study of the pulmonary vascular bed.* Am J Pathol, 1961. **38**: p. 561-73.
- 23. Ascani, E., et al., *Natural history of untreated idiopathic scoliosis after skeletal maturity*. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 1986. **11**(8): p. 784-9.
- 24. Weinstein, S.L. and I.V. Ponseti, *Curve progression in idiopathic scoliosis*. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1983. **65**(4): p. 447-55.
- 25. Balague, F. and F. Pellise, *Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis and back pain*. Scoliosis Spinal Disord, 2016. **11**(1): p. 27.
- 26. Kostuik, J.P. and J. Bentivoglio, *The incidence of low-back pain in adult scoliosis*. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 1981. **6**(3): p. 268-73.
- 27. Matusik, E., J. Durmala, and P. Matusik, *Association of Body Composition with Curve Severity in Children and Adolescents with Idiopathic Scoliosis (IS)*. Nutrients, 2016. **8**(2): p. 71.
- 28. Normelli, H., et al., *Anthropometric data relating to normal and scoliotic Scandinavian girls*. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 1985. **10**(2): p. 123-6.
- 29. Ramirez, M., et al., *Body composition in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis*. Eur Spine J, 2013. **22**(2): p. 324-9.
- 30. Siu King Cheung, C., et al., *Abnormal peri-pubertal anthropometric measurements and growth pattern in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a study of 598 patients.* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2003. **28**(18): p. 2152-7.
- 31. Reichel, D. and J. Schanz, *Developmental psychological aspects of scoliosis treatment*. Pediatr Rehabil, 2003. **6**(3-4): p. 221-5.
- 32. Kotwicki, T., et al., *Optimal management of idiopathic scoliosis in adolescence*. Adolesc Health Med Ther, 2013. 4: p. 59-73.
- 33. Ueno, M., et al., A 5-year epidemiological study on the prevalence rate of idiopathic scoliosis in Tokyo: school screening of more than 250,000 children. J Orthop Sci, 2011. 16(1): p. 1-6.
- 34. Soucacos, P.N., et al., *Risk factors for idiopathic scoliosis: review of a 6-year prospective study*. Orthopedics, 2000. **23**(8): p. 833-8.
- 35. Kim, H.J., J.S. Blanco, and R.F. Widmann, *Update on the management of idiopathic scoliosis*. Curr Opin Pediatr, 2009. **21**(1): p. 55-64.
- 36. Mordecai, S.C. and H.V. Dabke, *Efficacy of exercise therapy for the treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a review of the literature*. Eur Spine J, 2012. **21**(3): p. 382-9.
- 37. Romano, M., et al., *Exercises for adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a Cochrane systematic review*. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2013. **38**(14): p. E883-93.

- 38. Negrini, S., et al., *Exercises reduce the progression rate of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: results of a comprehensive systematic review of the literature*. Disabil Rehabil, 2008. **30**(10): p. 772-85.
- 39. Fallstrom, K., T. Cochran, and A. Nachemson, *Long-term effects on personality development in patients with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Influence of type of treatment.* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 1986. **11**(7): p. 756-8.
- 40. Bassett, G.S., W.P. Bunnell, and G.D. MacEwen, *Treatment of idiopathic scoliosis with the Wilmington brace. Results in patients with a twenty to thirty-nine-degree curve.* J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1986. **68**(4): p. 602-5.
- 41. Weinstein, S.L., et al., *Effects of bracing in adolescents with idiopathic scoliosis*. N Engl J Med, 2013. **369**(16): p. 1512-21.
- 42. Liljenqvist, U., et al., *Comparative analysis of pedicle screw and hook instrumentation in posterior correction and fusion of idiopathic thoracic scoliosis.* Eur Spine J, 2002. **11**(4): p. 336-43.
- 43. Westrick, E.R. and W.T. Ward, *Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: 5-year to 20-year evidence-based surgical results.* J Pediatr Orthop, 2011. **31**(1 Suppl): p. S61-8.
- 44. Burwell, R.G., et al., *Pathogenesis of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis in girls a double neuro-osseous theory involving disharmony between two nervous systems, somatic and autonomic expressed in the spine and trunk: possible dependency on sympathetic nervous system and hormones with implications for medical therapy.* Scoliosis, 2009. **4**: p. 24.
- 45. Cheung, C.S.K., et al., *Generalized osteopenia in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis-association with abnormal pubertal growth, bone turnover, and calcium intake?* Spine, 2006. **31**(3): p. 330-338.
- 46. Lee, W.T.K., et al., *Generalized low bone mass of girls with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis is related to inadequate calcium intake and weight bearing physical activity in peripubertal period.* Osteoporosis international: a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, 2005. **16**(9): p. 1024-1035.
- 47. Millner, P.A. and R.A. Dickson, *Idiopathic scoliosis: biomechanics and biology*. Eur Spine J, 1996. **5**(6): p. 362-73.
- 48. Spencer, G.S. and M.J. Eccles, *Spinal muscle in scoliosis. Part 2. The proportion and size of type 1 and type 2 skeletal muscle fibres measured using a computer-controlled microscope.* J Neurol Sci, 1976. **30**(1): p. 143-54.
- 49. Wang, W.J., et al., *Top theories for the etiopathogenesis of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis.* Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics, 2011. **31**(1 Suppl): p. S14-27.
- 50. Ouellet, J. and T. Odent, *Animal models for scoliosis research: state of the art, current concepts and future perspective applications*. Eur Spine J, 2013. **22 Suppl 2**: p. S81-95.
- 51. Schlosser, T.P., et al., *How 'idiopathic' is adolescent idiopathic scoliosis? A systematic review on associated abnormalities.* PLoS One, 2014. **9**(5): p. e97461.
- 52. Bagnall, K.M., Using a synthesis of the research literature related to the aetiology of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis to provide ideas on future directions for success. Scoliosis, 2008. **3**: p. 5.
- 53. Riseborough, E.J. and R. Wynne-Davies, *A genetic survey of idiopathic scoliosis in Boston, Massachusetts.* J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1973. **55**(5): p. 974-82.
- 54. Kesling, K.L. and K.A. Reinker, *Scoliosis in twins. A meta-analysis of the literature and report of six cases.* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 1997. **22**(17): p. 2009-14; discussion 2015.

- 55. Inoue, M., et al., *Idiopathic scoliosis in twins studied by DNA fingerprinting: the incidence and type of scoliosis.* J Bone Joint Surg Br, 1998. **80**(2): p. 212-7.
- 56. Andersen, M.O., K. Thomsen, and K.O. Kyvik, *Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis in twins: a population-based survey*. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2007. **32**(8): p. 927-30.
- 57. Miller, N.H., et al., *Identification of candidate regions for familial idiopathic scoliosis*. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2005. **30**(10): p. 1181-7.
- Ogilvie, J., *Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis and genetic testing*. Curr Opin Pediatr, 2010.
 22(1): p. 67-70.
- 59. Cheung, K.M., et al., *Recent advances in the aetiology of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis*. Int Orthop, 2008. **32**(6): p. 729-34.
- 60. Wajchenberg, M., et al., *Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: current concepts on neurological and muscular etiologies.* Scoliosis Spinal Disord, 2016. **11**: p. 4.
- 61. Burwell, R.G., et al., *Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis (AIS): a multifactorial cascade concept for pathogenesis and embryonic origin.* Scoliosis Spinal Disord, 2016. **11**: p. 8.
- 62. Wang, W.J., et al., *Top theories for the etiopathogenesis of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis.* J Pediatr Orthop, 2011. **31**(1 Suppl): p. S14-27.
- 63. Ward, K., et al., *Polygenic inheritance of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a study of extended families in Utah.* Am J Med Genet A, 2010. **152A**(5): p. 1178-88.
- 64. Sharma, S., et al., *Genome-wide association studies of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis suggest candidate susceptibility genes.* Hum Mol Genet, 2011. **20**(7): p. 1456-66.
- 65. McMaster, M.E., A.J. Lee, and R.G. Burwell, *Physical activities of Patients with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis (AIS): preliminary longitudinal case-control study historical evaluation of possible risk factors.* Scoliosis, 2015. **10**: p. 6.
- 66. Longworth, B., R. Fary, and D. Hopper, *Prevalence and predictors of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis in adolescent ballet dancers*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2014. **95**(9): p. 1725-30.
- 67. Herman, R., et al., *Idiopathic scoliosis and the central nervous system: a motor control problem. The Harrington lecture, 1983. Scoliosis Research Society.* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 1985. **10**(1): p. 1-14.
- 68. Grivas, T.B., et al., *Geographic latitude and prevalence of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis*. Stud Health Technol Inform, 2006. **123**: p. 84-9.
- 69. Feinberg, A.P., *Phenotypic plasticity and the epigenetics of human disease*. Nature, 2007. **447**(7143): p. 433-40.
- 70. van Vliet, J., N.A. Oates, and E. Whitelaw, *Epigenetic mechanisms in the context of complex diseases*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2007. **64**(12): p. 1531-8.
- 71. Lam, T.P., et al., *Abnormal bone quality in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a casecontrol study on 635 subjects and 269 normal controls with bone densitometry and quantitative ultrasound.* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2011. **36**(15): p. 1211-7.
- 72. Dickson, R.A., et al., *The pathogenesis of idiopathic scoliosis. Biplanar spinal asymmetry.* J Bone Joint Surg Br, 1984. **66**(1): p. 8-15.
- 73. Cheng, J.C., et al., *Persistent osteopenia in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis--longitudinal monitoring of bone mineral density until skeletal maturity*. Stud Health Technol Inform, 2006. **123**: p. 47-51.
- 74. Cheng, J.C., et al., *Osteopenia in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a histomorphometric study*. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2001. **26**(3): p. E19-23.

- 75. Cheung, C.S., et al., *Generalized osteopenia in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis-association with abnormal pubertal growth, bone turnover, and calcium intake?* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2006. **31**(3): p. 330-8.
- 76. Liu, J., F. Huang, and H.W. He, *Melatonin effects on hard tissues: bone and tooth*. Int J Mol Sci, 2013. **14**(5): p. 10063-74.
- 77. Machida, M., et al., *Pathologic mechanism of experimental scoliosis in pinealectomized chickens*. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2001. **26**(17): p. E385-91.
- 78. Sanchez-Barcelo, E.J., et al., *Scientific basis for the potential use of melatonin in bone diseases: osteoporosis and adolescent idiopathic scoliosis.* J Osteoporos, 2010. **2010**: p. 830231.
- 79. Seeley, R.R., *Seeley's anatomy & physiology*. 9th ed. 2011, New York, NY: McGraw-Hill. xxvi, 1110, [128] p.
- 80. Acaroglu, E., et al., *Comparison of the melatonin and calmodulin in paravertebral muscle and platelets of patients with or without adolescent idiopathic scoliosis.* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2009. **34**(18): p. E659-63.
- 81. Stokes, I.A., *Mechanical effects on skeletal growth*. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact, 2002. **2**(3): p. 277-80.
- 82. Moreau, A., et al., *Melatonin signaling dysfunction in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis*. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2004. **29**(16): p. 1772-81.
- 83. Geissele, A.E., et al., *Magnetic resonance imaging of the brain stem in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis.* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 1991. **16**(7): p. 761-3.
- 84. Kim, H., et al., *Scoliosis imaging: what radiologists should know*. Radiographics, 2010. **30**(7): p. 1823-42.
- 85. Schuenke, M., et al., *Thieme atlas of anatomy. General anatomy and musculoskeletal system.* 2010, Stuttgart ; New York: Thieme. xiii, 541 p.
- 86. Janda, V., *On the concept of postural muscles and posture in man.* Aust J Physiother, 1983. **29**(3): p. 83-4.
- 87. Gonzalez-Freire, M., et al., *The Human Skeletal Muscle Proteome Project: a reappraisal* of the current literature. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2017. **8**(1): p. 5-18.
- 88. Schiaffino, S. and I. Moretti, *Changes in skeletal muscle fiber types induced by chronic kidney disease*. Kidney Int, 2015. **88**(2): p. 412.
- 89. Samaan, M.C., et al., Understanding the role of the immune system in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: Immunometabolic CONnections to Scoliosis (ICONS) study protocol. BMJ open, 2016. 6(7): p. e011812.
- 90. Wajchenberg, M., et al., *Histochemical Analysis of Paraspinal Rotator Muscles From Patients With Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis: A Cross-Sectional Study.* Medicine (Baltimore), 2015. **94**(8).
- 91. Farahpour, N., H. Younesian, and F. Bahrpeyma, *Electromyographic activity of erector spinae and external oblique muscles during trunk lateral bending and axial rotation in patients with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis and healthy subjects.* Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon), 2015. **30**(5): p. 411-7.
- 92. Mannion, A.F., et al., *Paraspinal muscle fibre type alterations associated with scoliosis: an old problem revisited with new evidence*. Eur Spine J, 1998. 7(4): p. 289-93.
- 93. Mueller-Wohlfahrt, H.W., et al., *Terminology and classification of muscle injuries in sport: the Munich consensus statement.* Br J Sports Med, 2013. **47**(6): p. 342-50.

- 94. Nowak, R., et al., *Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- beta) signaling in paravertebral muscles in juvenile and adolescent idiopathic scoliosis*. Biomed Res Int, 2014. **2014**: p. 594287.
- 95. Mann, C.J., et al., *Aberrant repair and fibrosis development in skeletal muscle*. Skelet Muscle, 2011. **1**(1): p. 21.
- 96. Moyer, A.L. and K.R. Wagner, *Regeneration versus fibrosis in skeletal muscle*. Curr Opin Rheumatol, 2011. **23**(6): p. 568-73.
- 97. Tidball, J.G., *Regulation of muscle growth and regeneration by the immune system*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2017. **17**(3): p. 165-178.
- 98. Mantovani, A., et al., *The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization*. Trends Immunol, 2004. **25**(12): p. 677-86.
- 99. Lemos, D.R., et al., Nilotinib reduces muscle fibrosis in chronic muscle injury by promoting TNF-mediated apoptosis of fibro/adipogenic progenitors. Nat Med, 2015.
 21(7): p. 786-94.
- 100. Kawamura, S., et al., *Macrophages accumulate in the early phase of tendon–bone healing*. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 2005. **23**(6): p. 1425-1432.
- 101. Munoz-Canoves, P. and A.L. Serrano, *Macrophages decide between regeneration and fibrosis in muscle*. Trends Endocrinol Metab, 2015. **26**(9): p. 449-50.
- 102. Garg, K., B.T. Corona, and T.J. Walters, *Therapeutic strategies for preventing skeletal muscle fibrosis after injury*. Front Pharmacol, 2015. **6**: p. 87.
- 103. Wajchenberg, M., et al., *Histochemical analysis of paraspinal rotator muscles from patients with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a cross-sectional study.* Medicine (Baltimore), 2015. **94**(8): p. e598.
- 104. Glass, C.K. and J.M. Olefsky, *Inflammation and lipid signaling in the etiology of insulin resistance*. Cell Metab, 2012. **15**(5): p. 635-45.
- 105. Gregor, M.F. and G.S. Hotamisligil, *Inflammatory mechanisms in obesity*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2011. **29**: p. 415-45.
- 106. McNelis, J.C. and J.M. Olefsky, *Macrophages, immunity, and metabolic disease*. Immunity, 2014. **41**(1): p. 36-48.
- 107. Hotamisligil, G.S. and E. Erbay, *Nutrient sensing and inflammation in metabolic diseases*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(12): p. 923-34.
- 108. McLaughlin, T., et al., *Role of innate and adaptive immunity in obesity-associated metabolic disease*. J Clin Invest, 2017. **127**(1): p. 5-13.
- 109. Romeo, G.R., J. Lee, and S.E. Shoelson, *Metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance, and roles of inflammation--mechanisms and therapeutic targets.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2012. **32**(8): p. 1771-6.
- 110. Meshkani, R. and S. Vakili, *Tissue resident macrophages: Key players in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes and its complications*. Clin Chim Acta, 2016. 462: p. 77-89.
- 111. Samaan, M.C., *The macrophage at the intersection of immunity and metabolism in obesity*. Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome, 2011. **3**: p. 29.
- 112. Wu, H. and C.M. Ballantyne, *Skeletal muscle inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity*. J Clin Invest, 2017. **127**(1): p. 43-54.
- 113. Deng, W., et al., *Loss of regulator of G protein signaling 5 exacerbates obesity, hepatic steatosis, inflammation and insulin resistance.* PLoS One, 2012. **7**(1): p. e30256.

- 114. Fink, L.N., et al., Pro-inflammatory macrophages increase in skeletal muscle of high fatfed mice and correlate with metabolic risk markers in humans. Obesity (Silver Spring), 2014. 22(3): p. 747-57.
- 115. Hong, E.G., et al., *Interleukin-10 prevents diet-induced insulin resistance by attenuating macrophage and cytokine response in skeletal muscle*. Diabetes, 2009. **58**(11): p. 2525-35.
- 116. Kennedy, A., et al., *Loss of CCR5 results in glucose intolerance in diet-induced obese mice*. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2013. **305**(7): p. E897-906.
- 117. Khan, I.M., et al., *Intermuscular and perimuscular fat expansion in obesity correlates with skeletal muscle T cell and macrophage infiltration and insulin resistance.* Int J Obes (Lond), 2015. **39**(11): p. 1607-18.
- 118. Le, N.H., et al., *Quercetin protects against obesity-induced skeletal muscle inflammation and atrophy*. Mediators Inflamm, 2014. **2014**: p. 834294.
- 119. Le, N.H., et al., *Blockade of 4-1BB and 4-1BBL interaction reduces obesity-induced skeletal muscle inflammation*. Mediators Inflamm, 2013. **2013**: p. 865159.
- Neels, J.G., et al., *Keratinocyte-derived chemokine in obesity: expression, regulation, and role in adipose macrophage infiltration and glucose homeostasis.* J Biol Chem, 2009.
 284(31): p. 20692-8.
- 121. Nguyen, M.T., et al., *A subpopulation of macrophages infiltrates hypertrophic adipose tissue and is activated by free fatty acids via Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 and JNKdependent pathways.* J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(48): p. 35279-92.
- 122. Patsouris, D., et al., *Insulin resistance is associated with MCP1-mediated macrophage accumulation in skeletal muscle in mice and humans*. PLoS One, 2014. **9**(10): p. e110653.
- 123. Patsouris, D., et al., *Ablation of CD11c-positive cells normalizes insulin sensitivity in obese insulin resistant animals.* Cell Metab, 2008. **8**(4): p. 301-9.
- 124. Pincu, Y., et al., *The effects of high fat diet and moderate exercise on TGFbeta1 and collagen deposition in mouse skeletal muscle.* Cytokine, 2015. **73**(1): p. 23-9.
- Samaan, M.C., et al., Endurance interval training in obese mice reduces muscle inflammation and macrophage content independently of weight loss. Physiol Rep, 2014. 2(5).
- 126. Wang, J., et al., *ApoE and the role of very low density lipoproteins in adipose tissue inflammation.* Atherosclerosis, 2012. **223**(2): p. 342-9.
- 127. Wang, X.A., et al., *Interferon regulatory factor 7 deficiency prevents diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance*. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2013. **305**(4): p. E485-95.
- 128. Xu, H., et al., *Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance*. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2003. **112**(12): p. 1821-1830.
- 129. Tam, C.S., et al., *Skeletal muscle extracellular matrix remodeling after short-term overfeeding in healthy humans*. Metabolism, 2017. **67**: p. 26-30.
- 130. Boon, M.R., et al., *Short-term high-fat diet increases macrophage markers in skeletal muscle accompanied by impaired insulin signalling in healthy male subjects.* Clin Sci (Lond), 2015. **128**(2): p. 143-51.
- 131. Bruun, J.M., et al., *Diet and exercise reduce low-grade inflammation and macrophage infiltration in adipose tissue but not in skeletal muscle in severely obese subjects.* Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2006. **290**(5): p. E961-7.

- 132. Fink, L.N., et al., *Expression of anti-inflammatory macrophage genes within skeletal muscle correlates with insulin sensitivity in human obesity and type 2 diabetes*. Diabetologia, 2013. **56**(7): p. 1623-8.
- 133. Hevener, A.L., et al., *Macrophage PPAR gamma is required for normal skeletal muscle and hepatic insulin sensitivity and full antidiabetic effects of thiazolidinediones.* J Clin Invest, 2007. **117**(6): p. 1658-69.
- 134. Kim, T.H., et al., *IL-6 induction of TLR-4 gene expression via STAT3 has an effect on insulin resistance in human skeletal muscle*. Acta Diabetol, 2013. **50**(2): p. 189-200.
- 135. Samaan, M.C., et al., Adiposity and immune-muscle crosstalk in South Asians &Europeans: A cross-sectional study. Sci Rep, 2015. 5: p. 14521.
- 136. Varma, V., et al., *Muscle inflammatory response and insulin resistance: synergistic interaction between macrophages and fatty acids leads to impaired insulin action.* Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2009. **296**(6): p. E1300-10.
- 137. Eldridge, S.M., et al., *CONSORT 2010 statement: extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials.* Pilot Feasibility Stud, 2016. **2**: p. 64.
- Eldridge, S.M., et al., Defining Feasibility and Pilot Studies in Preparation for Randomised Controlled Trials: Development of a Conceptual Framework. PLoS One, 2016. 11(3): p. e0150205.
- 139. Thabane, L., et al., *A tutorial on pilot studies: the what, why and how.* BMC Med Res Methodol, 2010. **10**: p. 1.
- Avery, K.N.L., et al., Informing efficient randomised controlled trials: exploration of challenges in developing progression criteria for internal pilot studies. Bmj Open, 2017. 7(2).
- 141. Asher, M.A. and D.C. Burton, *Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: natural history and long term treatment effects.* Scoliosis, 2006. **1**(1): p. 2.
- 142. Tidball, J.G. and M. Wehling-Henricks, *Shifts in macrophage cytokine production drive muscle fibrosis.* Nat Med, 2015. **21**(7): p. 665-6.
- 143. Rockett, H.R., et al., *Validation of a youth/adolescent food frequency questionnaire*. Preventive Medicine, 1997. **26**(6): p. 808-816.
- Hay, J.A., B. University, and J. Cairney, *Development of the Habitual Activity Estimation Scale for Clinical Research: A Systematic Approach*. Pediatric Exercise Science, 2006.
 18(2): p. 193-202.
- 145. Chervin, n., et al., *Pediatric sleep questionnaire (PSQ): validity and reliability of scales for sleep-disordered breathing, snoring, sleepiness, and behavioral problems.* Sleep Medicine, 2000. **1**(1): p. 21-32.
- 146. Faulstich, M.E., et al., *Assessment of depression in childhood and adolescence: an evaluation of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale for Children (CES-DC)*. The American Journal of Psychiatry, 1986. **143**(8): p. 1024-1027.
- 147. Fendrich, M., M.M. Weissman, and V. Warner, *Screening for depressive disorder in children and adolescents: validating the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale for Children*. Am J Epidemiol, 1990. **131**(3): p. 538-51.
- 148. Brownson, R.C., et al., *Measuring the environment for friendliness toward physical activity: a comparison of the reliability of 3 questionnaires.* American Journal of Public Health, 2004. **94**(3): p. 473-483.

- 149. Harris, P.A., et al., *Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support.* Journal of biomedical informatics, 2009. **42**(2): p. 377-381.
- MacPherson, R.E., et al., Sarcolipin knockout mice fed a high-fat diet exhibit altered indices of adipose tissue inflammation and remodeling. Obesity (Silver Spring), 2016.
 24(7): p. 1499-505.
- 151. Qin, T., et al., *Dopamine induces growth inhibition and vascular normalization through reprogramming M2-polarized macrophages in rat C6 glioma*. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 2015. **286**(2): p. 112-23.
- 152. Deguchi, M., et al., *Experimental scoliosis induced by rib resection in chickens*. J Spinal Disord, 1995. **8**(3): p. 179-85.
- 153. *REDCap Software Information*. 2014 10/03/2016 [cited 2016 11/04/2016]; Available from: https://projectredcap.org/software/.
- 154. *IBM SPSS Advanced Statistics*. 2016 [cited 2016 11/04/2016]; Available from: http://www-03.ibm.com/software/products/en/spss-advanced-stats.
- 155. Hadley-Miller, N., B. Mims, and D.M. Milewicz, *The potential role of the elastic fiber system in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis*. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1994. **76**(8): p. 1193-206.
- 156. Erkula, G., et al., *Musculoskeletal findings of Loeys-Dietz syndrome*. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 2010. **92**(9): p. 1876-83.
- Lieber, R.L. and S.R. Ward, Cellular mechanisms of tissue fibrosis. 4. Structural and functional consequences of skeletal muscle fibrosis. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2013. 305(3): p. C241-52.
- Bio-Rad. Macrophage Polarization Mini Review. 2016 [cited 2017 February 2]; Available from: <u>https://www.bio-rad-antibodies.com/macrophage-polarization-minireview.html - top</u>.
- 159. Martinez, F.O. and S. Gordon, *The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment*. F1000Prime Rep, 2014. **6**: p. 13.
- 160. Farmer, S.R., et al., *Regulation of actin mRNA levels and translation responds to changes in cell configuration*. Mol Cell Biol, 1983. **3**(2): p. 182-9.
- 161. Gilda, J.E. and A.V. Gomes, *Stain-Free total protein staining is a superior loading control to beta-actin for Western blots*. Anal Biochem, 2013. **440**(2): p. 186-8.
- 162. Galpin, A.J., et al., *Human skeletal muscle fiber type specific protein content*. Anal Biochem, 2012. **425**(2): p. 175-82.
- 163. Bustin, S.A., *Quantification of mRNA using real-time reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR): trends and problems.* J Mol Endocrinol, 2002. **29**(1): p. 23-39.
- 164. Gry, M., et al., *Correlations between RNA and protein expression profiles in 23 human cell lines.* BMC Genomics, 2009. **10**: p. 365.
- 165. Kozak, M., *New ways of initiating translation in eukaryotes?* Mol Cell Biol, 2001. 21(6): p. 1899-907.
- 166. Varshavsky, A., *The N-end rule: functions, mysteries, uses.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. **93**(22): p. 12142-9.
- 167. Urlinger, S., et al., Intracellular location, complex formation, and function of the transporter associated with antigen processing in yeast. Eur J Biochem, 1997. 245(2): p. 266-72.

- 168. Murray, P.J. and T.A. Wynn, *Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2011. **11**(11): p. 723-37.
- 169. Spiegelman, B.M. and J.S. Flier, *Obesity and the regulation of energy balance*. Cell, 2001. **104**(4): p. 531-43.
- 170. Tremblay, M.S. and J.D. Willms, *Secular trends in the body mass index of Canadian children*. CMAJ, 2000. **163**(11): p. 1429-33.
- 171. Gurnani, M., C. Birken, and J. Hamilton, *Childhood Obesity: Causes, Consequences, and Management.* Pediatr Clin North Am, 2015. **62**(4): p. 821-40.
- 172. Wang, K.W., et al., *Adiposity in childhood brain tumors: A report from the Canadian Study of Determinants of Endometabolic Health in Children (CanDECIDE Study).* Sci Rep, 2017. 7: p. 45078.
- 173. Zeyda, M., et al., *Human adipose tissue macrophages are of an anti-inflammatory phenotype but capable of excessive pro-inflammatory mediator production.* Int J Obes (Lond), 2007. **31**(9): p. 1420-8.
- 174. Odegaard, J.I. and A. Chawla, *Alternative macrophage activation and metabolism*. Annu Rev Pathol, 2011. **6**: p. 275-97.
- 175. Bhatt, M., et al., *Evaluating the evidence for macrophage presence in skeletal muscle and its relation to insulin resistance in obese mice and humans: a systematic review protocol.* BMC Res Notes, 2017. **10**(1): p. 374.
- 176. Goodpaster, B.H. and D. Wolf, *Skeletal muscle lipid accumulation in obesity, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes.* Pediatr Diabetes, 2004. **5**(4): p. 219-26.
- 177. Laurens, C. and C. Moro, *Intramyocellular fat storage in metabolic diseases*. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig, 2016. **26**(1): p. 43-52.
- 178. Tam, C.S., et al., *Low macrophage accumulation in skeletal muscle of obese type 2 diabetics and elderly subjects*. Obesity (Silver Spring), 2012. **20**(7): p. 1530-3.
- 179. Bourlier, V. and A. Bouloumie, *Role of macrophage tissue infiltration in obesity and insulin resistance*. Diabetes Metab, 2009. **35**(4): p. 251-60.
- 180. Zierath, J.R. and J.A. Hawley, *Skeletal muscle fiber type: influence on contractile and metabolic properties.* PLoS Biol, 2004. **2**(10): p. e348.
- 181. Avikainen, V.J., A. Rezasoltani, and H.A. Kauhanen, *Asymmetry of paraspinal EMGtime characteristics in idiopathic scoliosis.* J Spinal Disord, 1999. **12**(1): p. 61-7.
- 182. Busscher, I., F.H. Wapstra, and A.G. Veldhuizen, *Predicting growth and curve* progression in the individual patient with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: design of a prospective longitudinal cohort study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord, 2010. **11**: p. 93.
- 183. Trontelj, J.V. and J.M. Fernandez, *Single fiber EMG in juvenile idiopathic scoliosis*. Muscle Nerve, 1988. **11**(4): p. 297-300.
- 184. Goodpaster, B.H., et al., *Skeletal muscle lipid content and insulin resistance: evidence for a paradox in endurance-trained athletes.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2001. **86**(12): p. 5755-61.
- 185. Bruce, C.R., et al., *Muscle oxidative capacity is a better predictor of insulin sensitivity than lipid status.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2003. **88**(11): p. 5444-51.
- 186. Pruchnic, R., et al., *Exercise training increases intramyocellular lipid and oxidative capacity in older adults*. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2004. **287**(5): p. E857-62.

Appendix

Published Copy: Understanding muscle-immune interactions in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: A feasibility study

RESEARCH

Open Access



Understanding muscle-immune interactions in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a feasibility study

Srikesh Rudrapatna¹, Devin Peterson², Paul Missiuna², Ishan Aditya¹, Brian Drew², Nicola Sahar¹, Lehana Thabane^{1,3,5,6,7} and M. Constantine Samaan^{1,3,4*}

Abstract

Background: Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis (AIS) is the most common form of scoliosis in children, and its cause remains unknown. The Immune-metabolic CONnections to Scoliosis (ICONS) Study was designed to elucidate the potential mechanisms by which immune system-paraspinal muscle crosstalk contributes to the development of AIS. In this report, we document the evaluation of ICONS Study feasibility.

Methods: This study was conducted at a tertiary pediatric academic center in Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. We included boys and girls, aged 10–17 years with a diagnosis of AIS requiring corrective spinal surgery. Exclusion criteria included patients on high-dose steroids, immunosuppressive therapy, anti-thrombotic medications, those with an active infection for 15 days before participation, autoimmune disease, pregnancy, and patients who were unwilling to consent.

Pre-determined feasibility criteria included permission to approach participants and recruitment rates of 80%, consenting of at least 80% of participants to provide biological samples, 90% or higher case report form and questionnaire completion, resources to be sufficient in at least 80% of recruitments, and the ability to successfully collect and process 80% or more of the biological samples needed for this study.

Results: Between August 2013 and October 2014, we identified 32 potential participants with AIS, but had the resources to approach only 16, of which 12 (75%) agreed to be approached by the research team, and all consented to participate. Of the 12 participants recruited, 11 questionnaire packages and muscle biopsies (91.7% for each objective) were collected, while other biological samples (serum, plasma, whole blood for DNA and RNA processing, urine) were collected from all participants.

Conclusions: The ICONS study protocols and procedures are feasible. However, recruitment rates were less than predicted. For the full study, we plan on prolonging the recruitment phase and the inclusion of additional centers to achieve recruitment targets.

Keywords: Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis, Immunometabolism, Macrophage, Paraspinal muscle, Feasibility study, **ICONS** study

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s), 2017 Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

^{*} Correspondence: samaanc@mcmaster.ca

¹Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, 1280 Main Street West, HSC-3A57, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

³Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Strengths and limitations of this study

- Study procedures have been assessed for feasibility.
- The study demonstrated the feasibility of building collaborations with clinical services essential for study conduct.
- This feasibility study has informed certain modifications to the procedures implemented in the Immune-metabolic CONnections to Scoliosis (ICONS) Study. This ensures successful participant recruitment, data acquisition, and sample collection and processing.
- This feasibility study informs translational researchers of the elements that need to be considered when designing translational research studies.
- This study is potentially limited by the use of tools that rely on self-reported data, and are subject to inherent biases. However, utilizing validated tools minimized the impact of these biases.
- Another limitation is the cross-sectional nature of the study. Due to the nature of the study procedures including tissue biopsies, it is not possible to use another study design at this stage.

Background

Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis (AIS) is the most common form of spinal curving in youth, and occurs mainly in girls. While the cause of AIS remains unknown, it is likely that it is caused by a complex interaction of genes, the nervous system, hormones, metabolic dysfunction, skeletal abnormalities, biochemical factors, as well as environmental and lifestyle factors [1–9]. In some cases, AIS is associated with several comorbidities including pain, pulmonary hypertension, and cosmetic effects, which increase the burden of this condition on the affected youth although the impact of AIS on these comorbidities and the justification for surgery based on them has been debated [10].

Several paraspinal tissues may play a role in AIS, but the exact contribution of different tissues to the genesis of AIS are not fully understood. While paraspinal muscles are important in maintaining spinal stability and mobility, it is unclear if they contribute to the initiation or propagation of spinal curvature, or if their phenotype is secondary to scoliosis. Regardless, studying muscle profile in AIS may lead to better understanding of the mechanisms involved in the development of scoliosis.

One of the important phenotypic features noted in paraspinal muscle is the infiltration of macrophages and fibrosis, which begs the question of the role of immune system-muscle interactions in AIS etiopathogenesis [11-14]. While the presence of macrophages

in muscle has been commented on briefly in studies that have described these findings, no detailed phenotyping of these macrophages and their contribution to muscle pathophysiology has been undertaken.

The Immune-metabolic CONnections to Scoliosis (ICONS) Study was designed to investigate the mechanisms of immune-muscle crosstalk in AIS. The protocol of the study was recently published [15].

The complex nature of study procedures involve consenting patients to obtain biological samples for the study, the attendance of spinal surgeries to collect tissue and other biological samples, and immediate processing of tissue samples in the operating room. It was unclear whether patients would be willing to consider participating in the study, considering the invasiveness of some of the study procedures. In addition, the feasibility of collecting high-quality biological samples needed to be determined in the clinical setting.

The final goal of the study is to recruit 120 subjects, therefore determining if timelines are realistic would be important. When completed, the ICONS study will be the largest study in the field of AIS immunometabolism undertaken so far, so feasibility measures are critical prior to committing resources to the full study. We did not identify any previous scoliosis studies that reported on the details of study procedures in a similar setting.

Our goal in this paper is to report on the feasibility of the ICONS study clinical processes and laboratory procedures, and indicate subsequent modifications based on these results. As studies of this nature are relatively rare in the fields of pediatric orthopedic and translational research, our goal was to establish the feasibility of the study procedures before launching the full study.

Methods

Setting and participants

The ICONS Study is being conducted at McMaster Children's Hospital, a tertiary pediatric academic center in Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. In the recently published protocol, a sample size of 120 participants recruited over 5 years was deemed sufficient to detect significant differences in the analyses [15].

Recruitment

Patients are recruited from the Orthopedics Clinic at the Hospital. The Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board approved the study. Figure 1 reports study recruitment procedures.

Inclusion criteria

We included boys and girls, 10–17 years old, who are diagnosed with AIS and need corrective spinal surgery.



Exclusion criteria

For this specific study, patients with non-idiopathic scoliosis, such as congenital scoliosis and scoliosis due to neuromuscular disorders, skeletal dysplasia, and syndromes were excluded. Other reasons for exclusion included patients on high dose steroids (i.e. above the physiological substitution doses of 6–8 mg/m²/day), immunosuppressants, or anti-thrombotic medications 15 days prior to surgery. In addition, exclusion criteria included smoking, active infections, autoimmune disease, pregnancy, and patients who were unable or unwilling to consent, or when anthropometric measurements were not possible [15].

Consent

The healthcare team involved in the care of potential participants obtained verbal consent from participants to be approached by the study team. If the participant and parents approve, the researcher would then introduce the study and answer their questions. If there is agreement to participate, the youth or their parent/guardian will sign the consent forms. Participants 16 years or older signed their own consent forms, while those 7–15 years of age signed an assent form while their parent/guardian signed the consent forms. Unique identifiers were assigned to allow data anonymization shortly after data and biological sample collection to ensure confidentiality.

Collection of participant data

Standardized tools were utilized to collect data regarding nutrition [16], physical activity [17], sleep [18], mental health [19, 20], and neighborhood walkability [21]. In addition, sociodemographic data including age, sex, ethnicity, parental and participants' education, parental profession, family income, social and family history, past medical and surgical history, current medications, pregnancy and birth history, and menstrual history in girls were collected. Anthropometric and clinical measures collected included height (cm), weight (kg), from which Body Mass Index (BMI, kg/m²) and BMI percentile calculations were derived. Waist circumference (cm), hip circumference (cm), blood pressure (mmHg), heart rate (beats per minute), and grip strength (kg) using a dynamometer were measured. The fat mass percentage was tested using bioelectrical impedance (Tanita Corporation, Arlington Heights, USA) [22]. Data were managed using Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) tools hosted at McMaster University [23].

Biological sample collection and processing

The biological sample processing protocol is presented in Fig. 2, and reported in detail in the published study protocol [15]. Liquid biopsies including blood and urine samples were collected after a midnight fast from central lines and urinary catheters in the operating room, respectively. All samples were processed and stored within two hours of collection. Part of the muscle biopsies was snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen, and another part was preserved in formalin immediately after collection. The formalin-treated samples were then embedded in paraffin and stored until further processing.

Blood samples

Serum: Fasting serum samples were isolated from blood samples collected into anticoagulant-free tubes (BD Life Sciences, Ontario, Canada). The samples were centrifuged for 15 min at 1500*g*, at room temperature. Samples were aliquoted and stored at -80 °C until further processing.

Plasma: Fasting plasma samples were obtained from EDTA-treated blood samples by centrifuging for 15 min at room temperature at 1500g. Samples were loaded into cryovials for storage at -80 °C until further processing.

RNA samples: PAXRNA tubes (BD Life Sciences, Ontario, Canada) were used to collect and preserve leucocyte RNA



from whole blood. Samples were processed according to manufacturer's instructions and then aliquoted into cryovials and stored at -80 °C until further use.

DNA samples: In the original protocol, we planned on using buffy coats to obtain DNA [15]. Based on challenges in standardizing this approach, an alternative approach of obtaining whole blood samples from EDTA-containing vacutainer tubes (BD Life Sciences, Ontario, Canada) was adopted. These samples were aliquoted into cryovials and samples were stored at -80 °C until further processing.

Urine samples

Fasting urine samples were collected into 90-mL containers. The samples were then aliquoted into cryovials and frozen at -80 °C until further processing.

Paraspinal muscle tissue biopsies and processing

Paraspinal muscle biopsies were obtained at points of maximal concavity and convexity of spinal curves. Samples were promptly separated from connective tissue and dried from blood, and then divided into few pieces. These samples were then placed in cryovials and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen immediately. Soon after, samples were transferred in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C until further processing. The formalin-preserved samples were embedded in paraffin by the Central Pathology Laboratory at Hamilton Health Sciences. These samples will be used in the future in staining and microscopic analyses.

Two important strategies were deployed with muscle tissue collection to preserve immune cell phenotype and integrity. First, these samples were obtained from areas where no cauterization took place, and the samples were collected before injecting adrenaline into muscle. The latter procedure is used to induce vasoconstriction but adrenaline is also known to alter macrophage phenotype [24, 25]. This approach ensures the fidelity of muscle macrophage phenotype in future analyses.

Measures to determine the feasibility of study procedures

The following criteria were used to indicate the feasibility of study procedures:

- 1. Participant and parent agreement to be approached and informed about the study in 80% of cases.
- 2. Of those who agree to be approached, a minimum of 80% will be consented to participate in the study.
- 3. Of those who agree to participate, case report forms and questionnaires will be completed in a minimum of 90% of participants.
- 4. Resource utilization including space, researchers' time, consumables, study protocol testing, and laboratory apparatus use being feasible in 80% of cases.

5. Acquisition and processing of high-quality biological samples in 80% or more of cases.

Statistical analysis

We evaluated the feasibility of the study procedures in 10% of the total projected study sample size target. Since our target sample size is 120 participants [15], we assessed the feasibility of the study in the first 12 subjects recruited into the study.

Data are reported including the mean (SD) for continuous variables and as a number (percent) for categorical variables. Means and standard deviations were computed using SPSS version 20.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, New York, USA). We are also reporting medians and ranges of values to provide a more comprehensive view of the participants' data, as the sample size is small.

Results

Participant recruitment

The process by which patients were approached, consented, and asked to provide data is outlined in Fig. 1.

Participants' demographics

Over the period from August 2013 to October 2014, while we identified 32 potential eligible participants, we had some logistical challenges in attending the clinics and ended up attending the clinic visit for only 16 of them. This was due to the fact that the students who were involved in the recruitment had scheduling conflicts and were able to only attend a limited number of visits. On one occasion, the patient was rescheduled for their clinic visit by the clinical team, and the research team was not aware of the scheduling change.

Baseline characteristics of the group are outlined in Table 1. Of the 16 subjects, 12 (75%) agreed to be approached by the research team, and all of those approached agreed to participate in the study. Four patients were excluded due to a diagnosis of kyphosis as opposed to

Table 1 Summary o	[.] participant c	haracteristics
-------------------	----------------------------	----------------

Variables	Mean (SD)	Median (range)
Age (years)	14.4 (1.9)	14.4 (11.5–17.5)
BMI (kg/m2)	20.8 (3.0)	20.1 (16.6–26.1)
BMI percentile	58.0 (27.0)	59.3 (18.5–92.5)
Body fat percentage	24.1 (6.2)	23.7 (10.3–35.4)
Cobb angle (degrees)	57.1 (14.8)	56.6 (30.0–78.7)
Pulse rate (bpm)	90.5 (14.9)	88.5 (60.0–122.0)
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	121.4 (9.9)	119.5 (108.0–143.0)
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	75.8 (8.3)	76.5 (63.0–88.0)

Abbreviations: SD standard deviation, BMI body mass index, bpm beats per minute, mmHg millimeters of mercury. All 12 subjects who were approached consented to participating in the study and to providing biological samples (100%) AIS (n = 1), patient had already undergone a corrective surgery and was having a revision surgery (n = 1), patient had multiple sclerosis (n = 1), and patient refused to meet the team due to a scheduling conflict (n = 1).

Most of those recruited were female (n = 11; 91.7%). Most participants were Caucasian Europeans (n = 9; 75%). The average age of participants was 14.4 ± 1.9 years, and the majority were diagnosed with significant AIS ($\geq 40^{\circ}$ curves) that required corrective surgery. In most cases, the spinal curve was right-sided (n = 10; 83%).

Feasibility of study procedures Pre-operative recruitment visits

Recruitment procedures were completed within 20 min, including presenting the research study, gathering participant signatures on consent forms and completing anthropometric measures during visit. This indicated that the study procedures are feasible in the clinical setting where these patients are being seen prior to their surgery.

Case report forms reporting height, weight, body fat percentage, blood pressure, and resting heart rate were completed for all subjects (100%). The participants were provided with packages containing the study questionnaires and asked to take these packages home and to return them to the team on the date of surgery. Eleven subjects returned completed questionnaire packages resulting in an overall rate of 91.7% for data collection. One family did not return the package, and further contact attempts in the post-operative period while the patient was in hospital and by phone following discharge were not successful in retrieving the package.

There have been no adverse events during the conduct of the study procedures and biological sample collection.

Operating room procedures

On the morning of the surgery, the study team attended preoperative multidisciplinary team meetings that included the operating room nursing staff, anesthesia nursing and medical staff, and orthopedic surgeons. The study was highlighted to the attendees who will be present in the operating room during the procedure, and specific requirements for blood, urine, and tissue samples reiterated.

Regarding space utilization in the operating room, a specific location was designated for the research team while patients were being prepared for surgery. The operating room staff set up sterile trays with the needed equipment for biopsy processing.

Once blood, urine, and tissue samples were received from the clinical staff, the research staff completed the sample processing immediately as described above.

Out of all patients who consented to participate, all 12 participants provided serum, plasma, whole blood for

DNA and RNA isolation, and urine. For muscle biopsy samples, 11 sets of muscle biopsies were collected by the study team (91.7%). We could not collect muscle tissue samples from one participant due to scheduling difficulties resulting in no trained researchers available to collect and process muscle samples.

Sample processing in the laboratory

Sample processing flow is demonstrated in Fig. 2. This involved centrifugation of blood samples for serum and plasma isolation as well as aliquoting PAXRNA, whole blood and urine to individual cryovials. These steps were completed within two hours of sample collection to maintain the integrity of the biological samples. No significant processing problems were experienced at any stage, thus blood and urine samples from all subjects were successfully collected and stored at -80 °C until further processing.

Discussion

The ICONS Study was designed to elucidate potential immune-metabolic mechanisms underlying AIS. Here, we report on the establishment of the feasibility of clinical and laboratory procedures of the study.

This feasibility study has helped us revisit our project recruitment target of 80%. Detailed study procedure monitoring including consent procedures, instruments used for data collection, questionnaire completion rates, and biological sample collection and processing met or exceeded the pre-set targets.

Study strengths, limitations, and adjustments to procedures based on initial data

This study has several strengths. The collaborations established with different clinical services to set up recruitment procedures were instrumental in assuring successful patient recruitment. The collection of muscle biopsies prior to cauterization and adrenaline injections preserved muscle macrophage phenotype and tissue integrity, thus allowing study questions to be addressed comprehensively, and established the feasibility of tissue sampling for the full study.

Study procedures and equipment used have proven to be highly reliable as predetermined feasibility criteria for participant consenting, sociodemographic data collection, resource utilization and sample acquisition and processing rates were all superseded. Furthermore, the validity of all measurement tools and questionnaires implemented have already been established [16, 17]. Finally, the study protocol places limited burden on the participants, as they are providing samples while undergoing surgery, so there are no added procedures to their routine care. We achieved a lower than expected rate of participation due to scheduling challenges, but a significant number of those approached agreed to participate in the study.

Based on this data, we have designated one team member to be responsible for recruitment. This person is in charge of attending clinic visits to maximize the chances of a successful recruitment, and reduce the burden on the participants by doing all study recruitment and consenting procedures during the visit.

With these adjustments, the effect of further changes will take time to demonstrate effectiveness. We initially expected to approach around 40 patients per year based on estimated prior annual numbers of scoliosis surgeries at our center, but this was not the case during the feasibility study, with up to 30% of scoliosis cases requiring surgery being not AIS, in addition to the situations noted above [15].

Based on our estimate of approaching 40 patients in a year we predicted a 5-year recruitment period would suffice. This feasibility study is instrumental in highlighting the need for more generous timelines for recruitment. While there is merit to this approach, the delay in knowledge generated from this project can have a significant impact on its translation to interventions that benefit patients. In addition, the sustainability of the study funding is another potential caveat to this approach.

Alternatively, expanding the study to other pediatric orthopedic centers will help achieve our target sample size of 120 subjects. We have engaged in discussions with other centers to expand recruitment and address the sample size needed for the full study. One center is quite interested in joining the study, which will improve the recruitment timelines. There are planned discussions with other centers that are interested in getting more information about the study. The feasibility of this expansion needs further evaluation to ensure its feasibility.

One potential limitation of the ICONS study is its cross-sectional design, which makes investigating causal links of muscle-immune mechanisms to AIS development difficult to establish. However, there are no reliable experimental models beyond humans to study AIS [26, 27]. In addition, the potential molecules and pathways identified in this study can be validated further in cell culture and in vivo models as dictated by the results.

This study does not incorporate a control sample to compare muscle phenotype in AIS to non-AIS subjects. The inclusion of a control group is neither feasible nor ethically justified, as this would expose healthy children or those with less severe degrees of scoliosis to potential harms of invasive biopsy procedures. In addition, longitudinal study designs are also not appropriate, as we cannot implement multiple biopsies to measure muscle inflammation with curve progression over time, and repeated biopsies may have their own inflammatory response in muscle at sites of biopsy. Ultimately, our cross-sectional design is the most appropriate approach.

The study is susceptible to various sources of bias. Selection bias may occur if our sample was not representative of the pediatric population with AIS by including other types of scoliosis. This is likely to be limited, as our population of pediatric patients with AIS requiring surgery constitutes a representative group of patients with AIS.

Recall bias may also occur when participants are completing questionnaires that inquire about subjective and/ or past lifestyle or family history-related factors. We attempted to minimize this bias by correlating selfreported data with clinically obtained data that was relevant to the immediate perioperative period.

Social desirability bias may also be a threat given the subjective nature of the lifestyle questionnaires. We utilized structured data collection tools that are previously reported to reflect the clinical phenotype of children accurately [16, 17, 23].

Potential outcomes of our research

The novelty of the study offers significant implications to patients with AIS. Identifying potential mechanisms underlying AIS will create new knowledge that can be translated into interventions to prevent and treat AIS. This study may also guide further experimental work in cell-based and animal models to test specific pathways that mediate AIS. Collectively, this may allow the creation of interventions that can be tested to validate their efficacy and safety.

In addition, new insights to the complications of AIS may be gleaned from this experimental work, whereby new approaches to prevent these complications may emerge from understanding the pathogenesis of AIS, ensuring improved outcomes. Importantly, our results may develop novel insights into immune-metabolic crosstalk in AIS, which may be an important aspect of the etiopathogenesis of this condition.

Our work is also of importance in the field of translational research studies in pediatrics. AIS affect millions of children around the world, and causal factors are not fully understood. As paraspinal muscle provides spinal stability and directs spinal motion, it is critical that we understand the muscle- and immune-based mechanisms that may contribute to AIS. It is also important to inform the scoliosis research community about the potential for success of studies similar to ours, and to highlight the need for early consideration of sample size achievement. In addition, this paper will be of broader importance to colleagues performing translational research to describe approaches to study procedures and anticipated outcomes.

Conclusion

We have determined that the protocols and procedures for the ICONS study are feasible. However, to overcome the lower than expected recruitment rates, we will consider the prolongation of the inclusion period and the expansion of the study to new centers. We will be moving with the implementation of these protocols taking these considerations into account.

Abbreviations

AIS: Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis; BMI: Body mass index; ICONS: Immune-Metabolic CONnections to Scoliosis; mmHg: Millimeters of mercury

Acknowledgements

We thank the participants and families for taking part in the study. We also would like to thank Ms. Kuan-Wen Wang for her editorial comments.

Funding

This project received funding from the Hamilton Health Sciences Spine Program, Division of Orthopedic Surgery, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Health Sciences, McMaster University.

Availability of data and materials

Data are available upon request sent to the corresponding author with justification.

Authors' contributions

MCS is the guarantor. MCS, LT, PM, DP, and BD conceived the study question. SR, PM, DP, NS, BD, IA, and MCS were responsible for creating and implementing study procedures including participant recruitment, data collection, sample processing, and sample storage. MCS, PM, DP, BD, LT, IA, and SR designed feasibility study criteria. LT provided additional expertise on statistical methods and assisted the development of the study design. SR, NS, IA, and MCS drafted the manuscript including figures and tables. All authors contributed to the manuscript by suggesting revisions, providing comments, and approving the submission of the final version of the manuscript.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board approved the study (HiREB approval no. 12–529).

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

The manuscript contains no individual person's data in any form (including individual details, images, or videos), so no consent to publish have been obtained from patients or their parent or legal guardian.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Author details

¹Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, 1280 Main Street West, HSC-3A57, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. ²Department of Pediatric Surgery, Division of Orthopedics, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada. ³Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. ⁴Division of Pediatric Endocrinology, McMaster Children's Hospital, Hamilton, ON, Canada. ⁵Department of Anesthesia, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada. ⁶Centre for Evaluation of Medicines, Hamilton, ON, Canada. ⁷Biostatistics Unit, St Joseph's Healthcare-Hamilton, Hamilton, ON, Canada.

Received: 22 February 2017 Accepted: 20 October 2017 Published online: 05 December 2017

References

- Wang WJ, Yeung HY, Chu WC-W, Tang NL-S, Lee KM, Qiu Y, et al. Top theories for the etiopathogenesis of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. J Pediatr Orthop. 2011;31(1 Suppl):S14–27.
- Kim HJ, Blanco JS, Widmann RF. Update on the management of idiopathic scoliosis. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2009;21(1):55–64.
- Newton Ede MM, Jones SW. Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: evidence for intrinsic factors driving aetiology and progression. Int Orthop. 2016; 40(10):2075–80.
- 4. Burwell RG, Aujla RK, Grevitt MP, Dangerfield PH, Moulton A, Randell TL, et al. Pathogenesis of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis in girls—a double neuro-osseous theory involving disharmony between two nervous systems, somatic and autonomic expressed in the spine and trunk: possible dependency on sympathetic nervous system and hormones with implications for medical therapy. Scoliosis. 2009;4:24.
- Cheung CSK, Lee WTK, Tse YK, Lee KM, Guo X, Qin L, et al. Generalized osteopenia in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis—association with abnormal pubertal growth, bone turnover, and calcium intake? Spine. 2006;31(3):330–8.
- Millner PA, Dickson RA. Idiopathic scoliosis: biomechanics and biology. Eur Spine J. 1996;5(6):362–73.
- Spencer GS, Eccles MJ. Spinal muscle in scoliosis. Part 2. The proportion and size of type 1 and type 2 skeletal muscle fibres measured using a computer-controlled microscope. J Neurol Sci. 1976;30(1):143–54.
- Ramirez M, Martinez-Llorens J, Sanchez JF, Bago J, Molina A, Gea J, et al. Body composition in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Eur Spine J. 2013;22(2):324–9.
- Lee WTK, Cheung CSK, Tse YK, Guo X, Qin L, Ho SC, et al. Generalized low bone mass of girls with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis is related to inadequate calcium intake and weight bearing physical activity in peripubertal period. Osteoporos Int. 2005;16(9):1024–35.
- Weiss HR, Karavidas N, Moramarco M, Moramarco K. Long-term effects of untreated adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a review of the literature. Asian Spine J. 2016 Dec; 10(6): 1163–1169.
- Wajchenberg M, Martins DE, Luciano Rde P, Puertas EB, Del Curto D, Schmidt B, et al. Histochemical analysis of paraspinal rotator muscles from patients with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a cross-sectional study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015;94(8):e598.
- 12. Moyer AL, Wagner KR. Regeneration versus fibrosis in skeletal muscle. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2011;23(6):568–73.
- 13. Tidball JG, Wehling-Henricks M. Shifts in macrophage cytokine production drive muscle fibrosis. Nat Med. 2015;21(7):665–6.
- Mann CJ, Perdiguero E, Kharraz Y, Aguilar S, Pessina P, Serrano AL, et al. Aberrant repair and fibrosis development in skeletal muscle. Skelet Muscle. 2011;1(1):21.
- Samaan MC, Missiuna P, Peterson D, Thabane L. Understanding the role of the immune system in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: Immunometabolic CONnections to scoliosis (ICONS) Study protocol. BMJ Open. 2016;6(7):e011812.
- Rockett HR, Breitenbach M, Frazier AL, Witschi J, Wolf AM, Field AE, et al. Validation of a youth/adolescent food frequency questionnaire. Prev Med. 1997;26(6):808–16.
- Hay JA, University, B, Cairney J. Development of the habitual activity estimation scale for clinical research: a systematic approach. Pediatr Exerc Sci. 2006;18(2):193–202.
- Chervin RD, Hedger K, Dillon JE, Pituch KJ. Pediatric sleep questionnaire (PSQ): validity and reliability of scales for sleep-disordered breathing, snoring, sleepiness, and behavioral problems. Sleep Med. 2000;1(1):21–32.
- Faulstich ME, Carey MP, Ruggiero L, Enyart P, Gresham F. Assessment of depression in childhood and adolescence: an evaluation of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale for Children (CES-DC). Am J Psychiatry. 1986;143(8):1024–7.
- Fendrich M, Weissman MM, Warner V. Screening for depressive disorder in children and adolescents: validating the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale for Children. Am J Epidemiol. 1990;131(3):538–51.
- 21. Brownson RC, Chang JJ, Eyler AA, Ainsworth BE, Kirtland KA, Saelens BE, et al. Measuring the environment for friendliness toward physical

activity: a comparison of the reliability of 3 questionnaires. Am J Public Health. 2004;94(3):473–83.

- Wang K-W, de Souza RJ, Fleming A, Singh SK, Johnston DL, Zelcer SM, et al. Adiposity in childhood brain tumors: a report from the Canadian Study of Determinants of Endometabolic Health in Children (CanDECIDE Study). Scientific Reports 7, Article number: 45078 (2017).
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)—a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform. 2009;42(2):377–81.
- 24. Railer JJ, Haggadone MD, Sarma JV, Zetoune FS, Ward, PA. Induction of M2 regulatory macrophages through the β 2-Adrenergic receptor with protection during endotoxemia and acute lung injury. J Innate Immun. 2014;6:607–618.
- Qin T, Wang C, Chen X, Duan C, Zhang X, Zhang J, et al. Dopamine induces growth inhibition and vascular normalization through reprogramming M2polarized macrophages in rat C6 glioma. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2015; 286(2):112–23.
- Deguchi M, Kawakami N, Kanemura T, Mimatsu K, Iwata H. Experimental scoliosis induced by rib resection in chickens. J Spinal Disord. 1995;8(3):179–85.
- Ouellet J, Odent T. Animal models for scoliosis research: state of the art, current concepts and future perspective applications. Eur Spine J. 2013; 22(Suppl 2):S81–95.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal
- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

